
 

 

 
 

Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX15 4AA 
www.cherwell.gov.uk 

 

 
Committee: Personnel Committee 
 

Date:  Tuesday 13 June 2023 
 

Time: 7.30 pm 
 
Venue Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Ian Harwood 
(Chairman) 

Councillor Lynn Pratt (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Gemma Coton Councillor David Hingley 
Councillor Fiona Mawson Councillor Dr Chukwudi Okeke 
Councillor Lynne Parsons Councillor Chris Pruden 
Councillor George Reynolds Councillor Amanda Watkins 
Councillor Douglas Webb Councillor Barry Wood 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members      
 
 

2. Declarations of Interest      
 
Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which 
they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
 

3. Petitions and Requests to Address the Meeting      
 
The Chairman to report on any requests to submit petitions or to address the 
meeting. 
 
 

4. Urgent Business      
 
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any item of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.cherwell.gov.uk/


5. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 10)    
 
To confirm as correct records the Minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 
15 March 2023 and 23 May 2023. 
 
 

6. Chairman's Announcements      
 
To receive communications from the Chairman. 
 
 

7. Policy Review  (Pages 11 - 132)    
 
Report of Chief Executive 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To seek approval from the Personnel Committee on proposed changes to existing 
HR policies. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 to review and approve the following policies for implementation:  
 
 - Sickness Absence Policy  
 - Organisational Change Policy 
 - Disciplinary Policy and Procedure  
 - Capability Policy 
 - Stand-by and on-call Policy  
 - Market Supplement Policy 
 - Car User Policy 
 
 

8. Workforce Profile Statistics  (Pages 133 - 150)    
 

Report of Chief Executive 

Purpose of report 

To provide the Personnel Committee with an update on Cherwell District Council’s 

workforce including measuring staff well-being and to highlight the actions officers 

are taking to address any issues. 

Recommendations 

Officers recommend the committee: 

1.1 to review and note the workforce data for Quarter 4 of 2022/23 as set out in 

Appendix 1. 

 
 
 
 



9. Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Working Group      
 
In autumn 2022, a joint Equalities Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Working Group was 
established comprising members of the Personnel Committee and the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
The Working Group is informal and support by officers from the Performance and 
Insight Team. Its role is to help shape and oversee the work the Council is doing to 
deliver on its equality, diversity and inclusion commitments which are set out in the 
Council’s Equalities Framework ‘Including Everyone’. The Working Group reviewed 
the three Action Plans, Inclusive Communities, Inclusive Services and Inclusive 
Workforce, and provided feedback to Executive (via the Personnel and Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) when it considered and adopted the Plans in April 2023.  
 
Once appointed, the Working Group will review its Terms of Reference to focus on 
monitoring progress against the Action Plans.      
 
The Personnel Committee is requested to nominate three Personnel Committee 
members to join the EDI Working Group. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(OSC) will nominate three OSC members to the EDI Working Group at its 27 June 
meeting.   
 
 

10. Work Programme 2023/2024  (Pages 151 - 152)    
 
The Committee to note the work programme for 2023/2024. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon 
hole in the Members Room at the end of the meeting. 

 
 

Information about this Meeting 
 
Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence should be notified to democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk or 01295 
221534 prior to the start of the meeting. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the 
start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item.  
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare the fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the nearest 
available fire exit.  Members and visitors should proceed to the car park as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 

Access to Meetings 
 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
Mobile Phones 
 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
 
Please contact Aaron Hetherington, Democratic and Elections democracy@cherwell-
dc.gov.uk, 01295 221534  
 
 
Yvonne Rees 
Chief Executive 
 
Published on Monday 5 June 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:democracy@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk


Cherwell District Council 
 

Personnel Committee 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Personnel Committee held at Bodicote House, 
Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 15 March 2023 at 10.00 am 
 
Present: 
 
Councillor Jason Slaymaker (Chairman)  
Councillor Simon Holland (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Andrew Beere 
Councillor Ian Corkin 
Councillor Gemma Coton 
Councillor Fiona Mawson 
Councillor Lynn Pratt 
Councillor Chris Pruden 
Councillor Les Sibley 
Councillor Amanda Watkins 
Councillor Douglas Webb 
 
Substitute Members: 
 
Councillor Adam Nell (In place of Councillor Barry Wood) 
 
 
Apologies for absence: 
 
Councillor Barry Wood 
 
Officers:  
 
Susan Blunsden, HR Manager 
Ruth Wooldridge, Health and Safety Manager 
Aaron Hetherington, Democratic and Elections Team Leader 
 
Officers Attending Virtually: 
 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader 
Mark Mills, Policy Officer 
 
 

38 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 
 

39 Petitions and Requests to Address the Meeting  
 
There were no petitions or requests to address the meeting. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Personnel Committee - 15 March 2023 

  

40 Urgent Business  
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
 
 

41 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 31 January 2023 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

42 Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman advised the Committee that the year-end Workforce Profile 
Statistics would be submitted to the next meeting and requested that 
Members provide feedback to the Assistant Director Human Resources 
regarding information they would like included in the report.   
 
 

43 Policy Updates  
 
The Chief Executive submitted a report to seek approval on proposed 
changes to the following existing HR policies: Corporate Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Policy; Probation Policy; and, Honorarium Policy.  
 
The HR Manager gave an overview of the proposed changes to the Probation 
Policy and Honorarium Policy. The Health and Safety Manager gave an 
overview of the proposed changes to the Corporate Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Policy. 
 
Resolved  
 
(1) That the following policies be approved for implementation: 
 

 Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing Policy 

 Probation Policy 

 Honorarium Policy 
 
 

44 Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Action Plans  
 
The Assistant Director for Customer Focus submitted a report to seek the 
Committee’s views on the draft action plans for delivering the council’s 
equality, diversity and inclusion commitments for creating an inclusive 
workplace, which are set out in its Equalities Framework, Including Everyone. 
 
In introducing the report, The Assistant Director for Customer Focus, advised 
the Committee that the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) working group 
was a joint working group with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
working group had reviewed the three draft action plans – Inclusive 
Communities, Inclusive Services and Inclusive Workforce.  

Page 6



Personnel Committee - 15 March 2023 

  

 
The Personnel Committee was asked to provide comments on the Inclusive 
Workforce action plan.. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the 
Inclusive Communities and Inclusive Services action plans at their 15 March 
meeting. All three action plans would be considered by Executive at their 
meeting on 3 April. 
 
In considering the report, the Committee noted the excellent work in respect 
of all Action Plans. In respect of the Inclusive Workforce the Committee 
commented that there should be more reference in relation to age 
discrimination. 
 
Resolved  
 
(1) That the following comment on the draft action plan for an Inclusive 

Workplace Information be made to Executive:  

 There should be more reference to age discrimination within the 
plan.   

 
(2) That Executive be recommended to delegate authority to the Assistant 

Director for Customer Focus to make minor amendments to the agreed 
Inclusive Workplace Action Plans in consultation with the portfolio 
holder and Chair of the EDI working group. 

 
 
The meeting ended at 10.33 am 
 
 
Chairman: 
 
Date: 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council 
 
Personnel Committee 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Personnel Committee held at Bodicote House, 
Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 23 May 2023 at 7.04 pm  
 
Present: 
 
Councillor Ian Harwood (Chairman)  
Councillor Lynn Pratt (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Gemma Coton 
Councillor David Hingley 
Councillor Fiona Mawson 
Councillor Dr Chukwudi Okeke 
Councillor Lynne Parsons 
Councillor Chris Pruden 
Councillor George Reynolds 
Councillor Amanda Watkins 
Councillor Douglas Webb 
Councillor Barry Wood 
 
  
 

1 Appointment of Chairman for the municipal year 2023/2024  
 
It was proposed by Councill Reynolds and seconded by Councillor Webb that 
Councillor Harwood be elected Chairman of the Personnel Committee.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Parsons and seconded by Councillor Okeke 
that Councillor Watkins be appointed Chairman of the Personnel Committee.  
 
There being two nominations for Chairman of the Personnel Committee, it 
was put to the vote. There were five votes for Councillor Harwood, two votes 
for Councillor Watkins and five abstentions.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That Councillor Harwood be elected Chairman of the Personnel 

Committee for the municipal year 2023/2024.   
 
 

2 Appointment of Vice-Chairman for the municipal year 2023/2024  
 
It was proposed by Councill Reynolds and seconded by Councillor Webb that 
Councillor Pratt be elected Vice-Chairman of the Personnel Committee.  
 
There were no further nominations.  
 
Resolved 
 

Page 9



Personnel Committee - 23 May 2023 

  

(1) That Councillor Pratt be elected Vice-Chairman of the Personnel 
Committee for the municipal year 2023/2024. 

 
 
The meeting ended at 7.06 pm 
 
 
Chairman: 
 
Date: 
 

Page 10



Cherwell District Council 

Personnel Committee 

13 June 2023 

Policy Updates 

Report of Chief Executive 

This report is public. 

Purpose of report 

To seek approval from the Personnel Committee on proposed changes to existing HR 

policies. 

1.0 Recommendations 

The meeting is recommended: 

1.1 Officers recommend the committee reviews and approves the following policies for 
implementation: 
 
 - Sickness Absence Policy  
 - Organisational Change Policy 
 - Disciplinary Policy and Procedure  
 - Capability Policy 
 - Stand-by and on-call Policy  
 - Market Supplement Policy 
 - Car User Policy 

2.0 Introduction 

2.1 The policies outlined above are part of the rolling programme of policy updates that 

officers are bringing to Personnel Committee for approval as HR systematically 

work through and refresh all HR-related policies. 

2.2 UNISON are also provided with these documents for review and comment.  Any 

feedback received will be shared at the PC ahead of these policies being approved. 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



3.0 Report Details 

3.1 The approach officers are taking to review all HR policies is to prioritise those 

needed to reflect changes in legislation and or work practices.    

3.2 The aim of the review was to simplify the content where possible, removing any 

unnecessary information and ultimately making them more user friendly for 

managers and employees to understand and follow them. 

3.3 The table in Appendix 1 gives an overview of all the proposed changes for each 

policy. 

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1 Officers have updated the policies attached to this report to reflect current 

legislation and good practice but also to make them much more user friendly and 

attractive for existing and potential employees.  For these reasons officers 

recommend the committee approves the revised policies. 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 Unions are consulted on the policies. 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

6.1 The alternative option would be to continue with the existing policies however 

officers have rejected this as the policies would not reflect current legislation or the 

Council’s objectives of being an attractive, modern employer. 

7.0 Implications 

 Financial and Resource Implications 

7.1 In order to mitigate risk it is important that the Council operate with up-to-date policies.  

The update to these policies are anticipated to be minor and will be managed within 

existing budgets, as is currently the case. 

Comments checked by: 

 Leanne Lock Strategic Finance Business Partner, 

 leanne.lock@cherwell-dc.gov.uk, 01295 227098 

Legal Implications 

7.2 This is in accordance with the programme for reviewing policies.  There are no legal 

implications. 

 Comments checked by: 

Shiraz Sheikh, Assistant Director of Law, Governance and Democratic Services and 

Monitoring Officer, Shiraz.Sheikh@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Page 12

mailto:leanne.lock@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Risk Implications 

7.3 There are no risk management implications arising directly from this report.  

Comments checked by: 

Shona Ware, Assistant Director – Customer Focus, 01295 221652  

shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Equalities and Inclusion Implications 

7.4  There are no EDI implications arising from this report.  Officers have considered 

EDI implications in suggesting changes to the policies to ensure the council meets 

its statutory responsibilities under the Equality Act and the commitments in its 

equalities framework ‘Including Everyone’.  The policies also allow for some flex so 

they can be adapted to suit the situation and specific circumstances.  Furthermore, 

the policies are regularly reviewed and updated to ensure they remain fit for 

purpose so any future EDI implications can be captured and mitigated against. 

Comments checked by: 

Shona Ware, Assistant Director – Customer Focus, 01295 221652  

shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Sustainability Implications 

7.5 There are no sustainability implications arising directly from this report Comments 

checked by: 

Jo Miskin, Climate Action Manager, 01295 221748, jo.miskin@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

8.0 Decision Information 

Key Decision     N/A 

Financial Threshold Met:   N/A  

Community Impact Threshold Met: N/A  

Wards Affected 

N/A 

Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 

N/A 

Lead Councillor 

N/A 

Page 13

mailto:shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


 

Document Information 

 Appendix number and title 

 Appendix 1 – Outline of changes to each policy 

 Appendix 2 - Sickness Absence Policy  

 Appendix 3 - Organisational Change Policy 

 Appendix 4 - Disciplinary Policy and Procedure  

 Appendix 5 - Capability Policy 

 Appendix 6 - Stand-by and on-call Policy  

 Appendix 7 - Market Supplement Policy 

 Appendix 8 - Car User Policy 

 

Background papers 

None 

Report Author and contact details 

Claire Cox 

Assistant Director of Human Resources 

01295 221549 

Claire.cox@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Page 14



Appendix 1 – Outline of changes to each policy       June 2023 
 

 

Document Changes 

Sickness Absence Policy 
and Procedure  

Appeals process updated as following a change to the council’s constitution there is no longer a need for appeals to be heard at 
Personnel Committee for employees that are not Statutory Officers or Corporate Directors  

Organisational Change 
Policy 

Appeals process updated as following a change to the council’s constitution there is no longer a need for appeals to be heard at 
Personnel Committee for employees that are not Statutory Officers or Corporate Directors 

Disciplinary Policy and 
Procedure 

Appeals process updated as following a change to the council’s constitution there is no longer a need for appeals to be heard at 
Personnel Committee for employees that are not Statutory Officers or Corporate Directors 

Capability Policy Appeals process updated as following a change to the council’s constitution there is no longer a need for appeals to be heard at 
Personnel Committee for employees that are not Statutory Officers or Corporate Directors 

Standby and on call Policy General tidy up and updated hourly rate of pay. 

Market Supplement Policy Tidy up.  Added who the policy is applicable to.  

Car User Policy Review and general tidy up, minimal changes. 

 P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sickness Absence Policy and 

Procedure 

 

Page 17



Appendix 2 

2 
 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure 

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of 

implementation 

1 December 2022 

 

DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

Committee Date of meeting 

pending approval 

 

Personnel Committee  

 

17 November 2022  

 

DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  

This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District  

DATE FOR REVIEW 

No later than 1st November 2025 but sooner if impacted by legislative changes. 

REVISION HISTORY 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

 

 

Page 18



Appendix 2 

3 
 

Contents 

1 Introduction       4 

2 Policy Statement      4 

3 Definition        5 

4 Confidentiality        5 

5 Notification of absence      5 

6 Non-compliance with the procedure    6 

7 Conduct during absence     7 

8 Contact during Long Term Absence    7 

9 Occupational Health      7 

10 Annual leave and sickness absence    8 

11 Managing stress related absence    8 

12 Long term sickness and ill health dismissal   9 

13 Terminal illness       10 

14 Returning to work      10 

15 Monitoring sickness absence     11 

16 Stage one – first formal discussion    12 

17 Stage two – second formal discussion   13 

18 Stage three – final formal discussion    15 

19 Appeals        16 

20 Sickness Pay       16 

21 When the disciplinary policy applies    17 

 

Page 19



Appendix 2 

4 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

1 INTRODUCTION 

This policy does not form part of any employee's contract of employment and the Council 

may amend it at any time. 

This policy applies to employees only. It does not apply to agency workers, consultants, self-

employed contractors, volunteers or interns 

The Council value the contribution of their employees in delivering quality services to their 

customers.  Whilst recognising that employees may be prevented from attending work due to 

ill health the Council also have a duty to maintain service delivery and minimise disruption. 

The overriding objective of the Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure is to manage 

sickness absence levels whilst maintaining a positive, fair and consistent approach to staff.   

1.2 The Council recognise and accept their responsibility to employees to ensure the working 

environment is safe and that the conditions of employment are conducive to good health and 

wellbeing. A satisfactory level of employee attendance at work is crucial and non-satisfactory 

levels reduce our available resources and can have a negative impact on how we deliver our 

services. It also places colleagues under undue pressure.  

1.3 The purpose of this policy is to support all employees to achieve and maintain an optimum 

level of attendance at work, to ensure that attendance is managed effectively and that the 

sickness scheme is not abused, whilst ensuring that employees with a genuine illness are 

treated sensitively. 

1.4 When an employee is absent due to sickness, they must satisfy the requirements of the 

Council’s absence procedure in order that their respective entitlements to statutory and 

occupational sickness pay are made.  

1.5 The Council expects all employees to take their mental and physical health seriously and to 

take personal responsibility for following health working practices and lifestyle choices so 

that they remain healthy and can attend work regularly, e.g. taking regular breaks, booking 

annual leave.  

2 POLICY STATEMENT 

2.1 It is the policy of the Council: 

 To objectively assess any periods of absence and decide on appropriate action; 

 To review reasons for sickness absence in order to help prevent the absence recurring; 

 To address any welfare problems, and ensure appropriate medical assistance is being 
provided; 

 To identify work-related ill health and address the cause; 

 To promote occupational health and welfare to ensure the workforce is effective and 
efficient; 

2.2 The policy and procedures will be implemented in a non-discriminatory manner taking into 

account individual circumstances and respecting confidentiality. 

Page 20



Appendix 2 

5 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

3 DEFINITIONS 

 Absence - not attending for work when contractually required to do so. 
 Authorised Absence- absence authorised by line management prior to or after its 

occurrence and can be paid or unpaid. 
 Unauthorised Absence - absence not authorised by line management prior to or after its 

occurrence and is always unpaid. 
 Self-certificated Sickness – employees are required to complete a Self – Certification 

Form for the first seven days’ of any sickness absence.  This form is sent to HR via the 
employee’s line manager.  (Saturdays and Sundays are included if both the Friday and 
Monday are recorded as sickness absence). 

 Medically Certificated Sickness - sickness absence of more than 7 consecutive days 
must be supported by a doctor’s medical certificate. 

  Frequent Short-Term Absence - absences that are normally sporadic and attributable to 
minor ailments. Often the employee will only be absent for a maximum of a week, but 
more often for single days. 

 Long Term Absence - where an employee has been, or is expected to be, continuously 
absent for four weeks or more. 

4. CONFIDENTIALTY 

4.1 Medical information is confidential.  This does not mean that employees have the right to 

withhold information about their medical condition.  However it does mean that the Council 

recognise that some employees may be reluctant to divulge sensitive or personal information 

and therefore the absence procedures allow employees some discretion over who, within 

management, they may speak to about ill health problems.  Whoever receives such 

information must respect confidentiality.   

4.2 Any information you provide to us about your health will be processed lawfully and in 

accordance with our Data Protection Policy. We recognise that such data is sensitive and will 

handle it in a confidential manner. 

4.3 Any breach of confidentiality will be regarded as serious and could lead to disciplinary action.   

5. NOTIFICATION OF ABSENCE - Day One 

5.1 Employees must contact their line manager on the first day of absence ideally by the time 

they would normally start work, and in any case within one hour of their normal start time, 

giving the nature of their illness or symptoms, its likely duration and what arrangements are 

being made, if any, to seek medical advice. This is to ensure that the work can be covered 

and there is a minimum of disruption to service delivery.    

5.2 Personal contact should be made by the employee by telephone. If an employee is unable to 

reasonably access a telephone they should make arrangements for an appropriate person to 

notify their line manager personally on their behalf.  Sending a text message via a mobile 

phone or an e-mail is not an acceptable method of notifying a period of absence.  An 

exception to this rule is in circumstances when an employee is due to start an early shift and 

it would be unreasonable to contact the manager other than by text.  However in this 

circumstance the employee must follow up any message with personal contact no later than 

9.00am.   

Page 21



Appendix 2 

6 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

5.3 In the event of not being able to contact their line manager, employees must leave a 

message, including the information in 5.1, with another colleague in their team. The member 

of staff receiving this information will ensure that the line manager, or another appropriate 

manager, is informed of the absence verbally as soon as possible 

5.4 The line manager should obtain and record the following information from the employee 

when they notify them of their absence:  

 Date and time of call  

 Reason for absence/nature of illness  

 Likely duration of absence  

 If the employee does not call in themselves the name and relationship of the 
individual reporting the absence.  

5.5 The line manager and employee may agree arrangements to contact each other during the 

period of absence in addition to those required in this policy, in the interests of both the 

welfare of the member of staff and the maintenance of service delivery levels. 

5.6 Except where a doctor’s certificate (Fit Note) covering the period has already been supplied 

to the Council, through the employee’s line manager, employees should contact their line 

manager on each subsequent working day of absence unless otherwise instructed by their 

line manager, until their return to work.  

 More than seven days’ absence 

5.7 After seven calendar days’ continuous absence the employee must inform their line manager 

of progress and obtain a doctor’s medical certificate (Fit Note). This form must be sent by the 

employee to HR via the line manager as soon as possible.     

Continuing absence 

5.8 A doctor’s medical certificate is required for all subsequent absence both to authorise that 

absence and to ensure payment of appropriate sickness pay.  

5.9     An employee can provide a medical certificate that has been issued by a hospital instead of 

a doctor’s certificate if there has been a period of hospitalisation.  

5.10 After absences of fourteen days or more the employee may be required to see the Council’s 

Occupational Health Advisor to confirm that they are fit to return to work.   

6. NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THIS PROCEDURE 

6.1 Sick pay may be withheld for any periods of sickness absence not covered by a self-

certificate or a medical certificate. Continuation of medically certificated absence must be 

provided no later than 7 days after the expiry of the previous medical certificate. If this is not 

provided without good reason pay maybe suspended until a certificate is produced to cover 

the period of absence. 

Page 22



Appendix 2 

7 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

6.2        Where periods of absence are not correctly reported in line with this procedure, this may be 

treated as unauthorised absence and the appropriate pay deducted.  Formal procedures will 

be invoked where repeated non-compliance with this procedure occurs.   

7. CONDUCT DURING ABSENCE 

7.1 The purpose of paid and unpaid sickness absence is to facilitate an employee’s recovery 

from an illness or injury. Therefore activities which would normally be considered 

inconsistent with genuine sickness or injury, or contravene this policy include:-  

o Participation in any sport, hobby, social or other activity which could aggravate the 
illness or injury, or which could delay recovery.  

o Undertaking any other employment during sickness absence whether paid or 
unpaid, which is in any way inconsistent with the nature of the illness or injury. 

o Taking sickness where annual leave has not been granted (in the event of this 
happening, a doctor’s note will be requested as part of the investigation).  

o Altering or causing to have altered any of the details on the fit note.  

o Providing inaccurate or misleading information about the absence.  

Formal disciplinary measures may be taken against any individual who is believed to have 

contravened the policy and if employees are found to be using the scheme for purposes 

other than recovery from illness or injury. 

During any period of sickness absence an employee must be willing to participate in 

regular contact with their line manager or another nominated officer such as an HR 

representative. This could also include HR and Occupational Health as and when this is 

deemed appropriate.  

8. CONTACT DURING LONG TERM ABSENCE  

The line manager should take positive steps to keep in touch so that the employee knows 

that the employer is interested in their health in instances of long-term absence. Line 

managers should write to the employee indicating a desire to maintain contact and asking 

the employee whether they would prefer telephone contact, occasional visits at home 

(perhaps by a colleague), email communication or a combination of these. The letter will 

make it clear that the line manager's interest and concern is about the employee's welfare 

and progress and to offer any support that is reasonable and practicable. The line manager 

will not put pressure on the employee and the employee’s wishes as regards contact 

arrangements. HR should be kept informed of progress, and can offer advice and support 

as and when required. 

9. OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 

During the course of your employment, the Council may request that you undergo medical 

examinations or health interviews by our Occupational Health Advisors. They are able to 

provide an invaluable service, for instance, in assisting employees to return to work after 

prolonged periods of absence and can advise us on how best to manage and support you. 

In such circumstances, to ensure that our occupational services can provide us with the 

advice we need, you will be asked to agree to the medical advisor disclosing the results of 

Page 23



Appendix 2 

8 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

the examination to the organisation in accordance with the Access to Medical Reports Act 

1988 and shall provide the organisation with such formal consents as may be necessary for 

this purpose. The Council reserves the right to test for alcohol and drug intoxication as 

detailed in the Alcohol and Drugs policy.  

Employees are asked to co-operate with a request to obtain a medical report although if 

they do not, management will have no choice but to make a decision based on the 

information available. 

In the event that there is a conflict between Occupational Health advice and the advice 

provided by the employee’s Doctor, the Council reserves the right to prefer the advice of 

Occupational Health on account of their independence.  

 

10. ANNUAL LEAVE AND SICKNESS ABSENCE 

10.1 Where an employee falls sick or is injured while on holiday, the Council will allow the 

employee to transfer to sick leave and take replacement annual leave at a later time. This 

is subject to the following strict conditions:  

 The employee must contact their Line Manager (by telephone if possible) as soon 
as they know that there will be a period of incapacity during a holiday.  

 The total period of incapacity must be fully certificated by a qualified medical 
practitioner.  

 Where the employee is overseas when he/she falls ill or is injured, evidence must 
still be produced that the employee was ill by way of either a medical certificate or 
proof of a claim on an insurance policy for medical treatment received at the 
overseas location.  

10.2 Where the employee fulfils all of the above conditions, the Council will grant the employee 

the same number of days' replacement annual leave as the number of annual leave days 

lost due to sickness or injury. An employee must request to take any replacement annual 

leave in accordance with the Council’s normal annual leave policy, and should endeavour 

to take the replacement annual leave in the same leave year in which it was accrued. 

During sickness absence an employee will continue to accrue annual leave entitlement.  

If the employment is terminated before an employee returns from sick leave, they will 

receive a payment in lieu of any accrued but untaken annual leave. 

11.  MANAGING STRESS RELATED ILLNESS 

11.1  Any employee who is suffering from a stress related absence e.g. depression, anxiety etc. 

must be referred immediately to our Occupational Health providers who will make an 

assessment and give the manager appropriate advice. 

11.2   In these circumstances managers are advised to contact HR at the earliest opportunity for 

help and advice. 

  

Page 24



Appendix 2 

9 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

12.  LONG TERM SICKNESS ABSENCE AND ILL HEALTH DISMISSAL 

12.1  Consecutive medical certificates are needed to cover the full period of long term absence 

and the employee must contact their line manager each time a new medical certificate is 

obtained. 

12.2  The underlying principle in the management of long term absence is to balance the service 

needs against the circumstances of the employee concerned.  Each case will be assessed 

individually.  HR will work in close partnership with the employee’s line manager.  

12.3  HR may, as appropriate, arrange a mutually convenient time to visit the employee at home 

to discuss their well-being and the circumstances relating to their sickness absence. The 

visit may include gaining written consent to obtain medical information. 

12.4  The line manager or nominee will also maintain regular contact with the employee, ideally 

at least every two weeks to prevent the employee feeling isolated, ensure their welfare 

needs are being met and keep them updated with any developments at work which may 

affect them.  Contact may be by telephone, letter or home visits.   

12.5  A meeting either at home or at work, must be arranged with the employee at a time to suit 

them.  They can have friends, family, colleagues or their Trade Union Representative 

present and will be advised of this when making any arrangements. 

12.6  An Occupational Health referral is needed in the majority of cases of long-term absence.  

This should occur at the earliest practical opportunity in order to gain a speedy and useful 

response. 

12.7  The Occupational Health Advisor may seek further medical advice on the nature of the 

employee’s illness, whether and when the employee is likely to be able to return, whether 

they are likely to be able to return full-time or part-time for a while, or whether they will need 

alternative work. 

12.8  When the employee returns to work a Return to Work Meeting must be held and a Self-

Certification/Return to Work form completed. 

12.9  An employee recovering from long-term sick leave must be properly monitored and 

managed by the line manager.  Other arrangements may include temporary revision of 

workloads and/or refresher training.  

12.10   If, following review, permanent adjustments need to be made, all reasonable steps will be 

taken to accommodate the changes.  The aim is, as far as is practical, to facilitate 

continued employment. 

12.11    When medical advice indicates that the employee may have become incapable of 

undertaking their duties, the Council’s Ill Health Dismissal Procedure will be discussed with 

the employee.  If the employee is a member of the local government pension scheme, the 

Ill health retirement process will be discussed. 

Page 25



Appendix 2 

10 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

13.    TERMINAL ILLNESS 

13.1 When the Council becomes aware that an employee has a terminal illness the following 

needs to be taken into account: 

 The employee may not be aware that the illness is terminal if the medical practitioner has 
decided that it is not in the person’s best interest to be informed of their condition. 

 The financial entitlement available to relatives on the death of the employee may be 
substantially more if the employee remains employed by the Council until the time of 
death. 

 People are affected differently by the knowledge that they are terminally ill.  Some may 
wish to continue working for as long as they are able while others may find it impossible 
to remain at work. 

 The Council is sympathetic to the employee’s situation and will manage the employee’s 
situation on an individual basis, giving careful consideration to the employee’s interests. 

 The Council will be mindful of the pension benefits that can accrue and the length of 
service qualifications that apply to those benefits.  Where possible, decisions about ill 
health retirement will aim to provide the employee with the most financially beneficial 
result. 

14. RETURNING TO WORK 

14.1 Return to Work Interviews will be conducted for all sickness absence regardless of length 

of time off. 

 14.2 A Return to Work Interview should be done on the day of return, preferably within the first 

four hours of starting either their rota or normal working day. It is at this point that any 

failure to comply with this policy will also be recorded. In some circumstances there may be 

an acceptable explanation, and this can be acknowledged. If there is no acceptable 

explanation, the disciplinary process may apply. HR should be contacted for advice if this is 

being considered. 

14.3 Return to Work Interviews should be conducted in a sympathetic manner and appropriate 

arrangements for privacy should be made. The Return to Work Interview should facilitate a 

resumption of work and progression to full responsibilities within an agreed timescale.  

14.4 It is the line manager’s responsibility to ensure that the correct documentation is received 

to cover the period of absence, whether it is a Self-Certification Form/Return to Work form 

or a medical certificate (Fit Note). These must be passed to HR to be kept on the 

employee’s record and to ensure payroll are able to pay the correct entitlement. 

14.5 The line manager should also be alert to any patterns of absence, for example the 

persistent Monday or Friday absentee. If a pattern is identified, the line manager should put 

their observations to the employee directly so that the employee has the opportunity to 

provide an explanation. The line manager should, however, remain open-minded and not 

jump to any hasty conclusions about the employee’s absences.  

14.6 The line manager will approve the Self Certification Form/Return to Work Form, provided 

that they are satisfied that the claim is genuine and the reason for the absence is suitable. 

If the reasons are not deemed acceptable this then may constitute unauthorised absence 

and disciplinary action may also be instigated. 

Page 26



Appendix 2 

11 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

14.7 The purpose of this return to work interview is to explore:  

 What actions the employee has taken to address the issue e.g. medical treatment  

 Whether any aspect of the job may be affecting the employee's health and whether any 
temporary changes to the job could assist attendance  

 Any underlying health problem and the likelihood of further absence  

 Whether the employee has a disability, and if so whether there are any reasonable 
adjustments that could be made  

 The impact of the absence on the service  

 Setting clear targets for improved attendance, e.g. no more than one days’ sickness in 
three months. Occupational Health or HR can advise on appropriate targets.  

 Whether medical advice is needed from the Occupational Health Service  

 Any other relevant considerations. 
 

14.8 Where an employee returns to work after a long period of sickness absence, the return to 

work interview will take account of any particular difficulties in relation to any agreed return 

to work programme. The Council will discuss reasonable adjustments, on an individual 

basis, with all employees who have been on long-term sick leave. Long term changes to 

roles will be considered but not guaranteed. Redeployment will be considered where 

appropriate. 

14.9 Where an employee has been on long term sick, the Council will consider the possibility of 

a four week phased return to work pattern. During that period of a phased return, where it 

has been specifically recommended by a GP or Occupational Health professional, the 

employee will receive full pay. In exceptional circumstances only, the period of phased 

return may be extended beyond four weeks. If extended beyond four weeks, the employee 

would only be paid for the hours worked. The remaining hours would be unpaid or the 

employee can use annual leave, where available.    

15. MONITORING SICKNESS ABSENCE 

15.1 Informal Actions 

The line manager should try to establish, through investigation and discussion with the 

employee, the underlying reasons for frequent absences. Until the underlying cause is 

identified, an appropriate and effective remedy will be impossible to identify. Check whether 

or not absences are in part because of personal or family problems. Check whether the 

employee's absences are in any way work related, for example as a result of workplace 

stress. If the problem is work related, the line manager should take prompt steps to remove 

or reduce the factor that is causing the employee's problem. Seek medical advice through 

Occupational Health, if appropriate, to determine whether there is any underlying medical 

cause for the employee's frequent absences. Speak to the HR department to refer to 

Occupational Health. 

15.2 Set reasonable targets and time-limits for improvement in attendance and ensure that the 

employee is committed to achieving them. Warn the employee of the consequences of 

continuing unsatisfactory attendance, i.e. that further action will be taken which may 

eventually lead to dismissal. Schedule a follow-up meeting at an agreed time to monitor the 

on-going situation.  

Page 27



Appendix 2 

12 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

15.3 Before taking any formal action in respect of an employee who has had frequent absences 

from work, the line manager should check the employee's absence record to gain an 

accurate assessment of the number of days' absence that they have had and the number of 

separate occasions that they have been absent. 

15.4 If there is no improvement and absence levels are unsustainable, the formal stages of this 

policy will be invoked. 

16. STAGE ONE - First Formal Discussion 

16.1 This discussion will be conducted where: 

 There have been three periods of absence in 5 or less consecutive calendar months 
or  

 Sickness absence levels are running at 8 working days or more in a rolling year (pro-
rata for part time staff) 

 There is an unacceptable pattern of absence, such as, regular Fridays or Mondays; 

 Absence regularly occurs on a particular day of the week 

 Absence regularly occurs at peak workload periods 

 Any period of absence gives concern 

 There is continued failure to follow the notification process without good reason 

 No satisfactory reason for being absent from work has been provided 

 There is a continuing pattern of unauthorised absences 

 There has been a failure to provide medical certificates when required 

 There is reason to believe that the employee has taken part in activities that are 
inconsistent with the cause of absence or prejudicial to recovery. 

Managers in consultation with Human Resources should use their discretion and not 
automatically go to a stage one meeting in certain exceptional circumstances e.g. due to a 
terminal illness or surgical intervention. 

16.2 The line manager should inform the employee of the date, time and place of the meeting, 

giving a minimum of 5 working days’ notice, as well as a brief explanation of why the meeting 

is to be held, by using the Formal Discussion letter (Appendix D). The employee is entitled to 

be represented by a Trade Union Representative or colleague of their choice, which they are 

responsible for arranging. 

16.3  If the employee’s representative is unavailable to attend at the appointed time, the 

employee may request postponement and suggest an alternative time and date.  If this is 

reasonable and within 5 working days of the original date, the meeting will be postponed. 

16.4 The first formal discussion gives the line manager and the employee the opportunity to 

discuss the employee’s absence record and the reasons for the absence(s), and any non-

compliance with the Sickness Policy.  A course of action will be set out over a specified 

period of time to provide the employee with an opportunity to improve.  During the discussion 

the line manager will: 

 Review the employee’s attendance record during the relevant period 

 Review any non-compliance issues 

 Give the employee the opportunity to discuss any problems or raise any concerns 

Page 28



Appendix 2 

13 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

 Decide whether any further action is required such as a referral to the Council’s 
Occupational Health Advisor (see Section 7) 

 Agree a target for improvement in sickness levels over an agreed monitoring period, 
usually 3 months 

 Inform the employee that if attendance and/or compliance does not improve within the 
time period, a second formal discussion will be held 

16.5 During the discussion a formal discussion form must be completed by the employee and line 

manager. 

16.6 Following the meeting the employee will be given a copy of the form, and a letter advising of 

his/her right of appeal. A copy of both the form and letter will be sent to Human Resources. 

16.7 In setting targets for improvement, the line manager will take into account the individual 

circumstances of the case; any advice received from the Occupational Health Advisor; the 

impact of any underlying medical condition or disability; and any reasonable work place 

adjustments that need to be put in place to enable the employee to improve their attendance. 

16.8   Following the First Formal Discussion, attendance and/or compliance will be monitored 

monthly. 

16.9 A target of reduced absence during the formal monitoring period (normally 3 months) will be 

set, following which a formal review will be held.   

16.10 If the target set for improvement has not been met and the agreed action from Stage 1 is not 

having satisfactory results, the line manager may move to Stage 2 at which a HR 

representative will also be present. 

16.11 If the target set for improvement has been met there will be no need for further formal review 

meetings. However, attendance will continue to be monitored for a further three months.  

Provided that attendance and/or compliance do not deteriorate during this period there will 

be no further need for formal monitoring and the employee will be removed from the formal 

stages of this policy.  If attendance and/or compliance deteriorate during this period, 

however, the line manager may move to Stage 2. 

17. STAGE TWO - Second Formal Discussion 

17.1 Progression to Stage 2 may occur where: there has been a failure to meet the targets set out 

in Stage 1, an employee has two Stage 1 discussions within the previous 3 year period or 

where the total period of absence in any 2 year period exceeds 6 months. 

17.2 The employee will be notified of the date, time and place of the meeting at least 5 working 

days in advance using the formal discussion letter, and advised of the right to be 

represented. If the employee’s representative is unavailable to attend at the appointed time, 

the employee may request postponement and suggest an alternative time and date.  If this is 

reasonable and within 5 working days of the original date, the meeting will be postponed. 

Page 29



Appendix 2 

14 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

17.3 The purpose of this discussion is to ensure that the employee is given a further opportunity 

to discuss their absence formally and explain why their absence level is not improving.  

During the Second Formal Discussion the line manager will:- 

 Review the employee’s attendance record during the monitoring period 

 Review any areas of non-compliance with the policy and procedures 

 Review the steps that have been taken to support him/her in achieving the required level 
of attendance 

 Give the employee the opportunity to discuss any problems or raise any concerns 

 Discuss any Occupational Health advice that has been received 

 Review the impact of any support or work adjustments recommended by the 
Occupational Health Advisor, for example counselling 

 Decide whether any new information requires further referral to the Council’s 
Occupational Health Advisor 

 Agree a target for improvement in sickness levels over a further monitoring period, 
usually three months 

 Agree any further help and support that can be provided to enable the employee to 
improve their attendance 

 Consider any changes in working arrangements which would allow the employee to 
continue working in their current job e.g. change of hours, period of unpaid leave, job 
design – whilst maintaining appropriate levels of service 

 Inform the employee that in the event of a medical report advising that they are 
permanently unfit to undertake their duties, their continued employment will be in 
question.   

 Consider the possibility of redeployment on medical grounds 

 Consider if ill health retirement should be explored 

 Issue a Formal Warning to the member of staff that his/her employment may be 
terminated if their attendance levels do not improve within the specified time period. 

17.4 A Formal Absence Discussion Form must be completed. This will provide a record of the 

meeting and the outcome.  A copy will be given to the employee and to Human Resources.   

17.5       The employee must be advised of his/her right of appeal. 

17.6 A target of reduced absence during a formal monitoring period (normally 3 months) will be 

set, and attendance and compliance will be monitored monthly during that period, following 

which a formal review will be held.  

17.7 If the target set for improvement has not been met and the agreed action from Stage 2 is not 

having results, the line manager may move to Stage 3.   

17.8 If the target set for improvement has been met there will be no need for further formal review 

meetings. However, attendance will continue to be monitored for a further three months.  

Provided that attendance and/or compliance do not deteriorate during this period there will 

be no further need for formal monitoring, the employee will be removed from the formal 

stages of this policy and the formal warning will be removed from their record.  If attendance 

and/or compliance deteriorate during this period, however, the line manager may move to 

Stage 3.    

  

Page 30



Appendix 2 

15 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

 

18. STAGE THREE - Final Formal Discussion: Dismissal 

18.1 A Final Formal Discussion may be held if the improvement target(s) have not been met or 

sustained.  Failure to meet the targets set out in Stage 2 may result in progression to Stage 

3, or if an employee has two Stage 2 discussions (or more) within the previous 3 year period. 

This meeting will be with the line manager and a representative from the HR Team.  

18.2 The employee should be notified of the meeting at least 5 working days in advance and 

advised of the right to be represented. If the employee’s representative is unavailable to 

attend at the appointed time, the employee may request postponement and suggest an 

alternative time and date.  If this is reasonable and within 5 working days of the original date, 

the meeting will be postponed. 

18.3 The purpose of the meeting is to consider whether the employee should be dismissed on the 

grounds of capability.  Dismissal on grounds of ill health capability means that the 

employee’s health is such that they cannot satisfactorily do the work they are employed to 

do.  Ultimately, the Council do not have to retain the services of any employee who cannot 

for whatever reason attend work on a regular basis and by definition fulfil their contractual 

obligations to their employer.  Each case will be dealt with on its own individual merits and 

particular circumstances in the light of the following information:- 

 The employee’s attendance record  
 The steps that have been taken to support them in achieving the required level of 

attendance 
 Any mitigating circumstances the employee may wish to be taken into account 
 Any occupational health advice that has been received 
 Other information that may have been collected during previous formal absence 

discussions. 

18.4 Following the meeting a decision will be taken by the Assistant Director whether to dismiss 

the employee on the grounds of capability.  

18.5 The formal warning may be extended to allow time for improvement in sickness absence 

levels.  The option of allowing further time for improvement will only be considered if there is 

evidence that this is likely to lead to the required improvement in attendance. 

18.6 The Assistant Director will confirm the decision in writing as soon as reasonably practicable 

and give details of the appeal process.  In the case of dismissal the employee will be 

provided with the reasons for it and the date on which employment will terminate.  

18.7 In the event that a Formal Warning is extended, the individual’s sickness absence pattern 

will be monitored over an appropriate, specified period and regular reviews will be 

undertaken by the Manager during the monitoring period. 

  

Page 31



Appendix 2 

16 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

 

19.         APPEALS 

19.1 An employee has rights of appeal against decisions taken.   Appeals are heard by a Senior 

Manager who has not previously been involved in the case.   

19.2 If an employee wishes to appeal s/he must do so in writing within ten working days of the 

receipt of written notification of the decision. 

19.3 The outcome of the appeal will be notified either immediately after the hearing and confirmed 

in writing, or in any event by written notification within ten working days of the appeal 

hearing. 

20. SICKNESS PAY 

20.1 An employee absent from work due to illness is entitled to receive sick pay, depending on 

their continuous service in Local Government, as follows :- 

Service Full Pay Half Pay 

 

Less than 4 months 

After 4 months but less than 1 year 

After 1 year but less than 2 years 

After 2 years but less than 3 years 

After 3 years but less than 5 years 

After 5 years 

 

1 month 

1 month 

2 months 

4 months 

5 months 

6 months 

 

None 

+ 2 months 

+ 2 months 

+ 4 months 

+ 5 months 

+ 6 months 

20.2 The Council has the discretion to extend the application of the above scale in exceptional 

circumstances.  

20.3 The Payroll Team will notify the employee at the earliest opportunity of any reduction in sick 

pay entitlement. 

20.4 Sickness absence during the twelve months immediately preceding the first day of current 

absence will be included in the calculation for sick pay entitlement.  

20.5 This does not affect any entitlement the employee may have to receive Statutory Sick Pay 

(SSP) for the same periods of sickness absence, although any sick pay the employee 

receives from the Council shall be inclusive of any SSP due. 

Page 32



Appendix 2 

17 
Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure  September 2022 

20.6  If the employee has been on long term sick leave continuously for more than a year, they will 

not qualify for Council sick pay again until they have returned to work for a total of 26 weeks. 

This does not affect any entitlement the employee may have to receive further SSP. 

20.7 Further details of entitlement to sick pay is available from the Payroll Team. 

21. WHEN THE DISCIPLINARY POLICY APPLIES 

21.1  Most issues relating to absence and non-compliance are managed within the formal stages 

of this policy. 

21.2 The Disciplinary Policy will be used for offences that may be regarded as gross misconduct 

such as:- 

 Making a false claim of incapacity for work due to ill health 

 Deliberate falsification of self or medical certificates 

 Abuse of the sickness scheme, for example, by undertaking paid or unpaid work 
elsewhere whilst on sick leave without permission  

 Further detailed advice and guidance on the use of the Sickness Absence Policy and 

Procedures is available from Human Resources. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 1 November 2022 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Organisational Change Policy 
 

Page 35



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 2 November 2022 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Organisational Change Policy   

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of implementation 1 December 2022 
 
 

DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

 

Committee Date of meeting 
pending approval 

 
Personnel Committee  
 

 
17 November 2022 

 
 

DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  
 

This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District Council.  
 
DATE FOR REVIEW 
 
No later than 1st November 2025 but sooner if impacted by legislative changes. 
 
REVISION HISTORY 

 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 36



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 3 November 2022 

Contents Page 

1 Introduction  5 

2 The Purpose 5 

3 General Principles 5 

4 Equality of Opportunity 6 

 RESTRUCTING PROCEDURE 
7 

 

1 Introduction 7 

2 Stage 1: Development of a Business Case 8 

3 Stage 2: Communication and Consultation 8 

3.1 The principles of effective consultation 8 

3.2 The formal consultation process 10 

3.3 The consultation log 10 

4 Stage 3: Final Approval 12 

5 Stage 4: Implementation  12 

5.2 The ‘at risk’ process 12 

5.4 Appointments to new posts within a restructure 12 

5.7 Matching (assimilation) and ring-fence recruitment 12 

5.13 Assimilation 13 

5.17 Ring fenced recruitment 13 

6 Stage 5: Appeal 14 

 Appendix A - Service Business Case 15-16 

 Appendix B – Employee Preference Form 17-18 

 REDEPLOYMENT PROCEDURE 
22 

 

1 Introduction 20 

2 Redeployment 20 

Page 37



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 4 November 2022 

3 The Redeployment Register 20 

4 Suitable Alternative Employment   21 

5 Trial Periods 22 

6 Pay Protection 23 

 Appendix A - Skills Audit Form      24 

 REDUNDANCY PROCEDURE 
25 

 

1 Introduction 28 

2 Redundancy Payments and Pensions 29 

3 Consultation 29 

4 Outcome 29 

5 Collective Consultation 30 

6 Appeals Process 30 

   

 Rights on return to work after AAL / parental leave 12 
 

   

    

 
 

  

   

   

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 38



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 5 November 2022 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The strategic vision of the Council is to ensure on-going efficiency and value for 
money.  The Council need to remain flexible and responsive to changing national 
and local priorities and consider stakeholder needs. They must also make the 
most efficient use of all resources and as such it is likely that organisational 
change will be required. The Council will seek to minimise the negative effects of 
any organisational change through the application of fair and equitable 
procedures that include restructuring, redeployment and redundancy.  

 
1.2 The Council is committed to the principle of working in partnership with 

employees and trade unions in managing organisational change and will seek to 
achieve changes through appropriate involvement and consultation. Any final 
decisions will however remain with the Council. 
 

1.3  The Council will ensure compliance with all related aspects of employment law 
and will also offer all reasonable support, in circumstances such as where there 
are job changes in redundancy situations, through the provision of robust 
redeployment processes and active case management.  
 

1.4  This policy applies to all employees of Cherwell District Council. It does not 
apply to staff retained on agency contracts or consultancy agreements, self-
employed contractors, volunteers or interns.  This policy will not apply to other 
third party or partner organisations where employees are not employed directly 
by the Council.  

 
1.5  This policy does not form part of any contract of employment or other contract to 

provide services, and we may amend it at any time following consultation with 
the trade union and agreement from the personnel committee. 

 
2 The Purpose 
 
2.1 The purpose of the Organisational Change policy and its related procedures 

(Restructuring, Redeployment and Redundancy) is to establish the fair, robust, 
and transparent principles, and processes to be followed so that the Council’s 
interests are protected, and staff are treated fairly throughout organisational 
change. 
 

3 General Principles 
 
3.1 All documents reflect the requirements of current employment legislation. 
 
3.2 The Council will consider all realistic alternatives to compulsory redundancies 

and will discuss and consult upon alternatives with staff and their trade union 
representatives where appropriate. This may mean changes to final business 
cases following a consultation period to cover alternatives such as: 

 

 reducing or eliminating overtime 

 reducing or changing employee allowances 

 reviewing the use of temporary, fixed term, casual and agency contracts  

Page 39



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 6 November 2022 

 seeking employee requests for early retirement, voluntary redundancy and 
reduction of hours 

 restricting or freezing recruitment 

 reducing expenditure in other ways (or increasing income) wherever possible 

 considering retraining and/or redeployment. 

3.3 Any measures adopted must not adversely affect the Council’s business and 

the Council’s ability to serve its customers/clients. 

3.4 The appropriate manager will receive support and advice in relation to a 
restructuring process by Human Resources, exploring all of the available options, 
before any change process starts. This will provide a positive and consistent 
approach for any organisational change.   

 
4 Equality of Opportunity  
 
4.1 The Council is fully committed to equal opportunities in employment and opposes 

any form of unfair discrimination on grounds of gender, sexual orientation, 
marital or civil partner status, gender reassignment, race, colour, nationality, 
ethnic or national origin, religion or belief, disability or age. Part-time employees 
and those working under fixed-term contracts will not be treated differently to 
permanent, full-time comparators. 
 
Where appropriate, equality impact assessments will be carried out for business 
cases. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Page 40



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 7 November 2022 

 
 
 

RESTRUCTURING PROCEDURE 
 

 
1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This procedure should be read in conjunction with the Organisational Change 

policy and related procedures of Redeployment and Redundancy. 
 
1.2 The Restructuring procedure provides fair, robust and transparent processes 

during restructuring, whilst seeking to avoid compulsory redundancies where 
staffing reductions are required. 
 

1.3 The procedure will apply primarily where the Council identify a need to 
undertake a formal and strategic review to address the long-term financials and 
efficiency, including departmental and teams or other strategic reviews, of the 
Council and where there may be the need to reduce staffing levels or create 
some other significant change to the employment contract. 

 
1.4 The following stages outlined below will assist in managing the organisational 

change process: 
 
 Stage 1: Development of a business case to propose service or structure 

changes and approval by Corporate Leadership Team (CLT). 
 

 Stage 2: Communication and consultation with the affected staff and the 
trade unions. The purpose of the consultation is to provide as early an 
opportunity as practical for all concerned to engage in the change and 
explore options. 
 

 Stage 3: Final approval of business case by CLT after consultation has 
ended.  
 

 Stage 4: Implementation (if the proposals have been approved). 
 

 Stage 5: Appeal process (the considerations for this stage are given in the 
redundancy procedures).  

  

Page 41



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 8 November 2022 

 
2 Stage 1: Development of a Business Case  
 
2.1 Prior to any business case being written, the Assistant Director should take 

advice and guidance from their HR Business Partner and discuss their proposals 
with the portfolio holder and the relevant senior member of the management 
team.  

 
2.2 The development of the business case will include the following for consideration: 

 

 The current structure and the rationale for the proposed changes. 

 The proposed new structure and the proposed outcomes.  

 Careful identification of the posts and people in scope and impacted by the 
proposed change. 

 The merits of retaining or designing career grade posts. 

 A financial assessment of the potential redundancy and pension costs and 
any proposed financial savings. 

 The consultation timetable. 

 Job evaluation results. 

 The target implementation date. 
 

2.3 The business case should include a draft revised structure and costing based on 
provisional proposed grades.  
 

2.4 Draft person specifications, job descriptions and job description questionnaires 
(where appropriate) must be prepared for each proposed new post. This will 
ensure that job evaluation can take place at each Council before consultation 
begins. Appropriate time should be set aside to allow for this to be achieved and 
the business case lead officer should discuss this with HR. 

 
2.5 All proposed new posts will be subject to job evaluation.  

 
2.6 In circumstances where the internal HR function is the subject of review the 

appropriate Director may put in place alternative arrangements as they deem 
relevant to facilitate the delivery / implementation of this policy without creating 
a conflict of interest for the individual employees affected.  

 

2.7 Once the business case is completed, the proposal will be taken to CLT for 

approval prior to consultation commencing. 

 

3 Stage 2: Communication and Consultation 

3.1 The principles of effective consultation 
 
3.2 The Council places great emphasis upon the value of stable and positive 

industrial relations, and as such take their responsibility for ensuring an effective 
and meaningful period of consultation seriously.   

 

Page 42



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 9 November 2022 

3.3 The Council recognises the benefits of consulting and communicating clearly and 
early with staff who may be affected by any proposals for change so as to 
minimise rumour and misunderstanding, and ultimately to help develop greater 
trust by involving and engaging with employees and the trade unions during the 
change process. It is also recognised that communication may need to be 
extended wider than to those directly affected.  

 
3.4 This stage defines the responsibilities of key staff involved in the restructure for 

communication, and sets out communication methods, both collectively and 
individually. 
 

3.5 Assistant Director (or delegated other for restructure where Senior Manager or 
others are in scope) in conjunction with the nominated HR Business Partner will 
review current roles with proposed roles. Staff affected by the restructure should 
be given an indication of which posts they could be ring-fenced to, as part of the 
restructure (a delegated other is a person with the ability to make decisions on 
behalf of and, in accordance with the constitution of the council). 
 

3.6 All consultation with the affected staff and trade unions will be led by the relevant 
Assistant Director, or delegated other, supported by the nominated HR Business 
Partner and can take the form of any or all of: 
 

 One to one consultation 

 Group consultation 

 Consultation with the trade union representatives 

 Written consultation  

 A consultation log 
 

3.7 The scope and method of communication will be driven by the scope and size of 
the restructure.  

 
3.8 Regular communication will take place with staff during both the consultation 

process and throughout the decision-making process as this will provide staff 
and the trade unions with reassurance and they will feel engaged in the process.  
 

3.9 Individual and collective consultation sessions will be arranged as well as the 
following communication with staff and the trade unions during consultation: 
 

 A portal will be set up for staff questions to be submitted on a consultation 
log. Staff will be made aware of when and how they will receive responses 
from the consultation log.  

 Distribution of the business case. 

 External support and advice given if / where appropriate (for example for 
Senior Management restructuring). 

 1-2-1 and group meetings which will be recorded on a separate confidential 
consultation log. 

 

Page 43



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 10 November 2022 

3.10 Absent staff for whatever reason e.g., due to sickness, paternity, maternity or 
unpaid leave will be kept informed during the consultation process by their line 
manager. 

 
3.11 The formal consultation process 
 

The Assistant Director, or delegated other, will outline the proposed changes to 
all staff in scope, in person, as outlined in the business case and in doing so 
will inform all of the affected employees of the organisational change process 
so that they understand the need for the proposed changes and have a clear 
understanding of the process to be followed from the outset.   
 

3.12 The length and processes involved in each stage of consultation will depend on 
the complexity of the proposed change and the number of staff involved, but as 
a general principle, a minimum period of three weeks (or a period of time in line 
with statutory requirements) is recommended. Should it be deemed necessary 
to extend a consultation period for any reason the staff and trade unions will be 
kept informed.  
 

3.13 The formal consultation stage will be used to consider further options that may 
not have been considered to deliver the service.  
 

3.14 At the beginning of the consultation process the affected employees and the 
trade unions will be provided with a link to the consultation portal containing:  
 

 The draft business case, including the proposed new staffing structure. 

 The consultation timetable. 

 The organisational change policy. 

 Job description and person specifications for all proposed new posts. 

 Details of the salary grades of all proposed new posts. 

 An employee preference form.  
 
Affected employees will also receive a personal letter of consultation which will 
include details of which proposed new post(s) they are to be ring-fenced for, or 
whether it is proposed that they would be assimilated into a proposed new post. 
 

3.15 The consultation log 
 
3.16 In order to facilitate an effective process of consultation with staff and the trade 

unions a consultation log will be maintained.   
 

3.17 The consultation log will enable views, concerns and questions raised by 
affected staff and their trade union representatives to be answered regularly, 
shared openly with all of the affected staff (unless the issue relates to an 
individual’s specific circumstances and they wish it to be private). This helps to 
ensure regular communication between management and any affected staff.   
A dedicated member of the HR team and the Assistant Director (or delegated 
other) will administer the log throughout the whole consultation process.  

 

Page 44



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 11 November 2022 

3.18 The process for operating and managing the consultation log will be 
communicated to staff prior to the start of the consultation process to ensure 
expectations are clear about when employees will receive responses to 
questions, issues, or concerns raised during the consultation process.    
 

3.19 The relevant Assistant Director, or delegated other, will ensure that they provide 
regular updates to staff, even if there is nothing significant to communicate so 
that channels of communication remain open. 

 
3.20 The recognised trade unions will be invited to be involved in all stages of the 

formal consultation process. If, as a consequence of responses to the 
consultation process the Assistant Director, or delegated other, considers that 
it is appropriate to change the draft business case the affected staff and trade 
unions will be notified at the appropriate time.   
 

3.21 There may be occasions when it becomes necessary to extend the consultation 
period, or to conduct a supplementary process of formal consultation. This 
may be used where there are significant changes or outstanding issues once 
the initial formal consultation has been completed. Where deemed necessary, 
this second stage will include the same stages as above but will be based on 
any further changes to the business case or proposed structure arising from the 
first consultation.  Any changes will be communicated to the relevant trade 
union representatives. 
 

3.22 The Council will ensure they maintain the skills, knowledge and experience 
required for future service delivery, whilst recognising that some employees 
may have different personal aspirations.  

 
3.23 The Employee Preference Form (see Appendix B) will be found on the 

consultation portal. Allowing time, and the opportunity to consider and discuss 
potential alternatives, all requests will be considered carefully on a case-by-
case basis. 
 

3.24 Employee preference requests will be considered on the grounds of:  
 

 Whether there is suitable alternative employment  

 Whether the proposal will help to avoid a compulsory redundancy 

 Future skill needs of the Council 

 Financial effects / impact 

 Potential efficiency gains  

 Extenuating personal circumstances presented by the applicant.  
 

3.25 The employee preference requests will not apply in cases where a temporary 
secondment is arranged e.g., to take account of fluctuating workloads. It will not 
normally be used where an employee is being considered for redeployment on 
health grounds (i.e., medical redeployment) or where action is being taken on 
the grounds of capability or in cases where the employees themselves request 
a transfer.  

 

Page 45



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 12 November 2022 

 
4. Stage 3: Final Approval 
 
4.1 Following a process of consultation with the affected staff and trade unions the 

business case and associated consultation log will be presented to CLT for final 
consideration.  
 

4.2 Employees and trade unions will be briefed specifically upon any changes to 
the final business case by the Assistant Director, or designation other, in 
advance of the report being submitted for approval.  

 
5. Stage 4: Implementation  
 
5.1 Once final approval of the business case has been granted by CLT then 

implementation can commence. The agreed implementation plan should be used 
to ensure timescales and tasks are undertaken as agreed.  
 

5.2 The ‘at risk’ process 
 
5.3 Following approval of a business case, the affected staff will be placed formally 

‘at risk’ of redundancy. Please refer to the Council’s Redundancy Procedure.  
 
5.4 Appointments to new posts within a restructure  
 
5.5 Wherever permanent employees are displaced by a restructuring process the  

first stage of the appointment process will generally involve an assimilation or 
ring-fenced recruitment exercise. 

   
5.6 Where appropriate, the Council will retain the right to recruit externally to ensure 

that the best possible candidate for the post is appointed. Where this is deemed 
necessary the lead officer should endeavour to notify the trade unions.  

 
5.7 Matching (assimilation) and ring-fence recruitment 
 
5.8 Jobs in the new structure should normally be filled on a top down basis and 

lower level placements should be started once this has been achieved. This 
should enable any potentially displaced employees to register an interest in a 
lower level post, although this will not mean they have any priority over lower 
grade staff. 

 
5.9 Matching criteria will be considered using any employee requests, and relevant 

data including current employment status, current hours of work, salary, job 
description and person specifications. Staff will be advised if they are a total 
match to the new role and can therefore be “slotted” into the new role without a 
further process being required.     

 
5.10 Where there are a number of employees identified as total matches, but the 

new structure does not have sufficient new posts to accommodate all the 
matched staff, a ring fenced selection process will take place to determine those 
staff with the best match for skills, experience and fit into the new role. 

Page 46



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 13 November 2022 

 
5.11 Either the Assistant Director or appropriate lead officer will arrange, lead and 

conduct the matching/ assimilation review and ring fence process in conjunction 
with the HR lead.   
 

5.12 For employee(s) whose role has not changed from their current role to that of 
the new role then a total match will take place. 

 
5.13 Assimilation  

 
5.14 For an employee to qualify for assimilation the following must be met: -  

 

 The same or less number of employees to match to roles. 
 

 The current job description and person specification of the employee’s 
current role meet the required criteria of a 75% match for the new position, 
except where a task within the essential criteria is deemed to be mandatory 
from day one and will therefore sit outside of the 75% match (e.g., an ability 
to travel between sites, specific qualification). 

 

 There are no other employees who have a comparable claim to the post by 
reason of assimilation. 

 
5.15 Assimilation may occur where the grade for the old and new posts is the same, 

or the new post is not more than one grade lower. 
 

5.16 If there are other employees with a comparable claim to the post, then a ring 
fence process will apply. 

 
5.17 Ring fenced recruitment 

 
5.18 If there are more employees in scope than potential matched roles a candidate 

pool will be identified, and a ring fence determined as part of the consultation 
process.  If the ring-fence remains unchanged as a result of the consultation 
process, and the business case is approved, interviews will be carried out for 
those who have been ring-fenced for the new posts.   
 

5.19 All employees who have been ring-fenced for one or more jobs will be asked to 
complete an application form to outline how their skills, competencies and 
experience matches the post(s) in the new structure. One application form must 
be completed for each post for which they have been ring-fenced. 

 
5.20 Candidates who meet the essential person specification criteria will be 

interviewed by an appropriate interview panel which will include the relevant 
Assistant Director or nominated delegate and supported by a HR 
representative. 
 

5.21 If the new posts are not filled after ring-fence interview(s) then the recruitment 
will be open to employees who are “at risk” of redundancy within the Council.  
If the position(s) remain unfilled then normal recruitment procedures will apply.  

Page 47



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 14 November 2022 

 
6. Stage 6: Appeal 
 
6.1 Please refer to the redundancy procedure for full details of the appeals process.  

 
  

Page 48



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 15 November 2022 

 
 

Service area and Directorate:  

Team:  

Case prepared by:  

Date:  

 

Business cases should be prepared in consultation with HR and presented to the or 

Corporate Director in the first instance. 

Background 
This section should provide information on the service/teams and outline any issues which may 
affect the team in the future (including changes to funding, priorities etc.) 

 
 
 
 

Proposed changes 
This section should provide an overview of the changes proposed and any other options that have 
been considered.  

 
 
 

Business Case 
Outline here the case for making changes, including how current duties, responsibilities etc. will 
be covered once changes are in place, benefits, risk to service delivery and any other impact. 

 
 
 

Changes to posts/JDs 
Outline here a summary of all changes to posts/JDs include indicative structure and grades.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Business Case 

Appendix A 

BBA 

Page 49



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 16 November 2022 

Financial Effects 
This section should summarise the costs and savings associated with any changes, including 
redundancy and capital costs of pensions. Detailed figures will be provided by finance and should 
be appended to this business case. 
 
It is also important to state whether this business case links to a budget savings proposal?  
Yes/No 
 
If yes, please provide the reference number: 

 
 
 

Approval Process 
 

Outline the process for approval 

 
 

Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
 

Finance Comments 
 
 
 

HR Comments 
 

 
 

Legal Comments 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 50



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 17 November 2022 

 

 
 
 
 

Employee Preference Form 
 

Due to the imminent restructure of your department/service area, consultation has now commenced 
and as part of this process, we are inviting you to detailed your preferred future work options. 
 
If you would like to take this opportunity to request voluntary redundancy or to change your hours 
then please complete the following information and return your completed application to [insert 
name, insert position] by no later than [insert date]. You may submit your application by email to 
[insert email address]. 

 
Part A 

To be completed by employee  
 

Name       

Job Title       

Department       

Line Manager       

Extension No.       

 
I wish to be considered for the following pending the restructure 

Voluntary Redundancy  

Early Retirement  

Preferred change of 
working hours 

Part Time/job share  Full Time  

 
Please provide details of the posts you would like to apply for: 
 
1) 
 
 
 
2) 
 
 
 
3) 
 
 
 
4) 
 
 
 

  

 

Appendix B 

Page 51



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 18 November 2022 

 

I understand that by making this application, I am expressing my interest in being considered for 
voluntary redundancy/early retirement/a change in working hours and that this does not commit me to 

anything at this stage. 
 

I also understand that the Council is under no obligation to accept my application for voluntary 
redundancy/early retirement/a change in working hours and reserves the right to make any final 

decision on this matter. 

Name: (please print) 
 

Signature: 
 

Date: 
 

 
Part B 

To be completed by Assistant Director 
 

Request supported  Yes  No  

Name: (please print)  

Signature:  

Date:  

 
FULL DETAILS including future skills needs, potential efficiency savings and any other supporting 
information.  
 
 
 
 
 

Financial position:  
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 52



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 19 November 2022 

 
Part C 

To be completed by Finance 
 

Redundancy costs  
 

 
 

Retirement costs   
 

Overall financial effect  
(cost/efficiency)  

 
 

NAME: Please print  

SIGNATURE:  

DATE:  

  

Page 53



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 20 November 2022 

 

 

 
 

REDEPLOYMENT PROCEDURE 
 
 

 
1 Introduction 

 
This procedure should be read in conjunction with the Organisational Change 
Policy and its related procedures.  

 
This procedure sets out the process to be followed when staff are unable to 
continue in their current post for reasons of redundancy. 

 
 
2 Redeployment  
 

Redeployment is the movement of an employee into a different role or 
department within the employer's business or that of an associated employer, 
often as a means of avoiding dismissal due to redundancy. A change in the 
terms of the employment contract will often be involved, in which 
case redeployment can only take place with the employee's consent. 

 
Where employees who are “at risk” of a redundancy dismissal are not placed 
in new posts as part of a ring-fenced recruitment or assimilation process, or 
where their post has ceased to exist and there are no alternatives, attempts will 
be made to redeploy an employee to a suitable alternative post within the 
employing authority.  

 
The Council is committed to: 
 

 Salary protection, in line with the pay protection policy, for the salaries of 
employees who are redeployed into roles where the grade for the new role 
is less than the redundant role. 

 

 Providing appropriate and effective retraining for employees selected for 
redundancy to facilitate their redeployment and minimise as much as 
possible further impact on the employee. 

 
 
3 The Redeployment Register 
 

Page 54



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 21 November 2022 

As soon as an employee is informed by HR that there are no available posts 
for the employee either because the post is being made redundant or the 
restructure has not left any suitable alternative employment, and the employee  
 
 
 
remains “at risk”, then the employee will, at this time, be served with notice of 
redundancy.  
 
The employee will at the same time be placed on the Redeployment Register 
for the duration of their notice period.  

 

HR will write to the employee to notify them of the process to be followed whilst 
they are placed on the Redeployment Register and arrange a meeting between 
HR and the employee to discuss the following:  

 

 The Redeployment Register procedure and each party’s responsibilities 
whilst the employee is placed on the register. 

 The work duties the employee will undertake whilst on the redeployment 
register (this will usually be the employee’s substantive duties).  

 The completion of a skills audit form.  

 What the employee may regard as either “suitable or unsuitable” alternative 
employment. 

 A review of current vacancies. 

 The potential training or other opportunities to enhance the employee’s 
transferable skills. 

 
 

4 Suitable Alternative Employment   
 

Where an employee is served with notice of redundancy, their employing 
authority will actively seek to identify suitable alternative employment for the 
employee and will remain committed to seeking alternative employment 
throughout the notice period of the employee.  
  
The Council welcome suggestions from employees who believe that there may 
be an available vacancy or opportunity within the Council that may be suitable.  
 
Serious consideration will be given to any available roles, and any reasonable 
opportunities for employees to be retrained, where this may be appropriate. 

Whether a job is suitable depends on: 

 how similar the work is to the employee’s current job 

 the terms of the job being offered 

 the employee’s skills, abilities and circumstances in relation to the job 

 the pay (including benefits), status, hours and location 

 
Once a potential suitable alternative role is found, a meeting will be held 
between the employee, the recruiting manager, HR and trade union 
representative or work colleague.  The meeting will be used to determine 

Page 55



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 22 November 2022 

whether the role is a suitable alternative and whether with training and 
development the employee will be capable of fulfilling the post requirements.    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The employee should be provided with the job description and person 
specification of the suitable alternative role that has been identified and 
complete the internal Skills Audit Form (see Appendix A). The employee will 
need to show they have the required skills and experience required for the role. 

 
If a suitable alternative role is found, the Council will offer the role to the 
employee and the employee’s redundancy dismissal will not go ahead and they 
will have no entitlement to a redundancy payment. If more than one employee 
is suitable for the same suitable alternative role, the Council may need to hold 
interviews for the role.  

 
Where an offer of suitable alternative employment is made to an employee, and 
this is accepted by the employee, this will be subject to a satisfactory four-week 
trial period.  The purpose of the trial period is to allow both the employer and the 
employee to consider the suitability of the alternative post. Where an offer of 
suitable alternative employment is made subject to completion of a trial period, 
an employee's acceptance should be treated as conditional on the successful 
conclusion of the trial period.  

 
In the event that an employee refuses to accept an offer of suitable alternative 
employment either before or after the trial period, the employee will be asked to 
clearly explain his or her reasons in writing.  This will then be considered by the 
Assistant Director - Human Resources and appropriate lead officer, and a 
decision made as to the validity of the reasons given.  
 
Where the employee unreasonably declines suitable alternative employment, 
the Council will not make any redundancy payment to that employee.   

 
Employees who have been selected for redundancy may apply for any vacant 
post that is not considered a match and will, wherever appropriate, be offered an 
interview.  It will be up to the Assistant Director - Human Resources and 
appropriate lead officer to decide whether it is appropriate to offer an interview. 
Whilst the selection process will be competitive and there can be no guarantees 
of success, no external candidates will be invited to apply until those selected for 
redundancy have been considered. 

 
 

5 Trial Periods 
 

Employees being redeployed are entitled to a (minimum) 4-week trial period in a 
suitable alternative post. This trial period may be extended in exceptional 
circumstances i.e., where additional training of the employee has been identified.   
However, the trial period will last no more than is needed for the purposes of 
retraining the employee.  

Page 56



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 23 November 2022 

 
Before the start of the trial period an appropriate training programme for the 
employee must be drawn up and agreed by both the employee and their new 
manager.  Such a training programme could include a mix of coaching, on-the-
job training and external courses or seminars as appropriate.  The costs for any 
external training will be met from departmental budgets as part of the 
restructuring process.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
Appropriate work objectives should be agreed between the employee and their 
manager. 
 
During the trial period, the redeployed employee’s manager must ensure that 
progress is monitored and reviewed on a regular basis.  Regular meetings should 
take place between the line manager and employee, during which progress must 
be reviewed and feedback given.  Notes of the individual’s progress should be 
kept, including reference to any problems encountered and the action taken to 
resolve them.  After each such meeting, both HR and the individual employee 
should be given a copy of these notes.  Towards the end of the trial period the 
line manager should hold a final review meeting with the employee.   
 
If the trial period is successful, the employee is deemed not to have been a 
dismissed. If the trial is unsuccessful, the employee shall be regarded as 
dismissed.  
 
If the suitable alternative employment is deemed unsuitable by the employee or 
the Council during the trial period, the employee will return to the redeployment 
register for the remainder of their statutory notice period.  

 
The Council will seek suitable alternative work for redundant employees up to 
and including the date of the employee’s termination of employment.  If all other 
options are exhausted, the employee’s employment will be terminated on 
grounds of redundancy at the end of the notice period.   
 
The Council reserve the right to select the best candidate for any job where 
there is more than one suitable candidate and may apply appointment selection 
criteria.    
 
If the proposed suitable alternative employment is agreed by both parties as 
being suitable, the notice of termination previously issued automatically lapses 
and the employment is treated as being continuous. 

 
6 Pay Protection 
 

If the post into which the employee is redeployed is graded lower than that of 
their existing post, then the pay protection policy for the appropriate Council will 
apply. This will apply to all contractual pay including basic pay and allowances. 
Incremental progression will not apply during any pay protection period. 
  

Page 57



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 24 November 2022 

It should be noted that pay protection is, at all times, subject to change as a 
result of amendments to the appropriate legislation, or in the interpretation of 
existing legislation or Council policy. 
 
If the employee has been offered an equivalent or higher graded role in the new 
structure but the employee has requested to be appointed to a lower level 
position then the employee may be moved to the lower level graded role at their 
request.  In such circumstances protection will not apply. 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A  

 

SKILLS AUDIT FORM      
(once completed please return to your respective HR Business Partner) 

 
 

Page 58



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 25 November 2022 

 PERSONAL DETAILS 

Name 
 
 
 

Current job title / service 
area 

 
 
 
 
 

If a suitable role arises within 
a shared team you may be 
required to work at office 
locations for the Council, can 
you think of any reason why 
you would be restricted from 
doing this? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Any there any other personal 
restrictions that may prevent 
you from working in 
particular service areas that 
we should be aware of? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 59



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 26 November 2022 

 EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

Please indicate the highest 
level of qualification 
obtained? 

 

Please list any additional / 
professional qualifications 
that you have achieved.  

 

Please indicate your level of 
IT competence against each 
programme  

 
None Limited Average Good 

Exc
elle
nt 

Outlook       

Word       

Excel       

PowerPoint      

Publisher      

Adobe      

 

Please list any other IT 
programmes that you use on 
a regular basis to a 
competent level. 

 

What training have you 
attended within the last three 
years? 

 

What training and/or skills 
have you acquired outside of 
work that may be relevant to 
the wider organisation? 

 

 
 

Page 60



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 27 November 2022 

 WORK EXPERIENCE 

Please list all service areas 
where you have worked (or 
gained experience) for the 
Council giving an indication 
of the length of service for 
each.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Which service areas within 
the Council interest you or fit 
well with your current skills 
and experience? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please list any other relevant 
organisations where you 
have worked or gained 
experience through other 
activities such as volunteer 
work.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 61



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 28 November 2022 

 TRANSFERABLE SKILLS 

Please detail your current 
skills that could be 
transferable to a different 
role.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Please add here anything 
else that you would like to be 
taken into consideration.  

 

 
 
 

HUMAN RESOURCES TO COMPLETE 

Originating department   

Grade  

Date of entry onto register  

Expiry date on register  

 

 
 

 

Page 62



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 29 November 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

REDUNDANCY PROCEDURE 
 
 

 
1 Introduction 

 
This procedure should be read in conjunction with the Organisational Change 
policy and its related procedures.  
 
Consultation will take place with employees and the trade unions in accordance 
with existing relevant legislation. The Council will always try to avoid the need 
for compulsory redundancies but sometimes these may be necessary. The 
pattern or volume of the Council’s work or methods of working may change and 
requirements for employees may reduce. 

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that, whenever reduction in employee 

numbers may become necessary, the Council: 

(a) communicate clearly with all affected employees and ensure that they 

are treated fairly; 

(b) try to find ways of avoiding compulsory redundancies; 

(c) consult with employees and with recognised trade unions. 

In carrying out any redundancy exercise the Council will not discriminate 

directly or indirectly on grounds of gender, sexual orientation, marital or civil 

partner status, gender reassignment, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national 

origin, religion or belief, disability or age. Part-time employees and those 

working under fixed-term contracts will not be treated differently to permanent, 

full-time comparators. 

This policy does not form part of any contract of employment or other contract 

to provide services, and we may amend it at any time following consultation 

with Trade Unions and subject to agreement with the Personnel Committee  

This policy applies to employees only. It does not apply to agency workers, 

consultants, self-employed contractors, volunteers or interns. 

Page 63



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 30 November 2022 

 

 

 

 

 
2 Redundancy Payments and Pensions  
 

The Council has agreed policies in relation to severance payments to 
employees whose employment is ended on grounds of redundancy. 
 
In calculating the statutory redundancy payment, the Council will take into 
account all continuous service (up to a maximum of 20 years) with bodies listed 
in the Redundancy Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local Government 
etc.) (Modification) Order 1999 (as amended) – the Modification Order. 
 
Detailed pensions estimates will be provided through each Council’s HR / 
Payroll team at the point an employee is at risk of redundancy. 

 
In line with National Conditions, if a redundant employee employed by a local 
authority or other body covered by the Order is offered alternative employment 
with another authority or Modification Order body, whether in writing or not, 
before the date of the redundancy and the termination of his/her contract, and 
starts the new job within 4 weeks of the date of redundancy dismissal, no 
redundancy payment is due and continuity of service for statutory redundancy 
purposes is preserved. 

 
3 Consultation 
 

Detailed notes shall be taken of all meetings with the employee/s and all 
employees have the statutory right to be accompanied by a colleague or trade 
union representative at all meetings.  

Where the Council are proposing to make redundancies the Council will enter 
into consultation with the affected employees on an individual basis and where 
appropriate also with the trade union or employee representatives. When it is 
not possible to avoid making compulsory redundancies, the Council will advise 
all affected employees and where appropriate, recognised trade unions and OR 
employee representatives that compulsory redundancies cannot be avoided. 
Affected employees will be made aware of the procedure that the Council will 
follow when making redundancies and the criteria that will be applied.   

The criteria used to select those employees who will potentially be made 

redundant will be objective, transparent and fair and based on the skills required 

to meet the Council’s existing and anticipated business needs. 

The Council will then consult individually with those employees who have been 

provisionally selected for redundancy.  

 

Page 64



Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 31 November 2022 

Employees selected or requesting redundancy will be invited to a meeting with 
an appropriate senior manager and HR to discuss the decision before formal 
notice of termination of employment is given. 
 

4 Outcome 

Where selection for redundancy is confirmed, employees selected for 

redundancy will be given written notice of termination of employment in 

accordance with their contracts and written confirmation of the payments that  

 

 

they will receive. Employees will be given the opportunity to appeal against this 

decision. 

The Council will continue to look for suitable alternative employment for 

redundant employees and inform them of any vacancies until their termination 

of employment dates. The manner in which redundant employees will be invited 

to apply for and be interviewed for vacancies will be organised depending on 

the circumstances existing at the time. Suitable alternative employment may be 

offered subject to a trial period where appropriate. 

Eligible employees under notice of redundancy will be entitled to take a 

reasonable amount of paid time off work to look for alternative employment or 

to arrange training for future employment. 

  
5 Collective Consultation 
 

The number of redundancies being proposed must be established. 

(a) If 20 or more redundancies are being proposed in a 90-day period 

then the collective consultation obligations will arise under the Trade 

Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (TULRCA) and 

it will be necessary to consult on the redundancy proposal with 

representatives of the affected employees and where the duty applies, 

to also notify the Secretary of State. The notification must be in writing 

(either by letter or on a form HR1) and a copy must be provided to the 

employee representatives.  

Collective consultation should begin in good time. If there are 20 to 99 
employees to be made redundant at one establishment over a period of 90 
days, then consultation must begin at least 30 days before the first dismissal. 

If 100 or more employees are to be made redundant at one establishment over 
a period of 90 days, consultation must begin no less than at least 45 days before 
the first dismissal.  

The Council must also consult individually with potentially redundant 
employees. 

Page 65

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/6-200-3621?originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/9-203-5215?originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default)


Appendix 3 

Organisational Change Policy 32 November 2022 

 
6 Appeal Process 
 

Where an employee has been notified of their redundancy dismissal but 
considers that their redundancy dismissal is unfair, for example the Council has 
unfairly applied the redundancy selection criteria, the employee may exercise 
their right to appeal the decision.    
 
If an employee wishes to appeal, they should put their request in writing to a 
member of HR explaining that they wish to appeal against redundancy selection 
and setting out the reasons for their appeal.  The appeal will then be heard by 
a senior manager of the council supported by an HR Business Partner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appeals should be submitted within ten working days of the employee receiving  
notice from the Council of their redundancy dismissal.   
 
The employee will be entitled to be accompanied at the appeal meeting by a 
work colleague or a Trade Union representative.   

 
The outcome of the appeal will be communicated in writing to the employee 
within 5 working days from the appeal hearing and it will be confirmed that the 
outcome of the appeal is the final decision. 

Page 66



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 1 November 2022 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 
 

Page 67



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 2 November 2022 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 
 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of implementation 1 December 2022 

 
 
DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

 

Committee Date of meeting 
pending approval 

 
Personnel Committee  
 

 
17 November 2022  

 
 
DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  
 
This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District Council.  
 
DATE FOR REVIEW 
 
No later than 1st December 2025 but sooner if impacted by legislative changes. 
 
REVISION HISTORY 
 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

Page 68



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 3 November 2022 

 

Contents Page 

1 Introduction 5 

1.2 Rules 5 

2 Scope 6 

3 Employee’s responsibilities 7 

4 Support for employees and managers 7 

5 The policy stages 7 

6 Informal action  8 

7 Suspension  8 

8 Formal stage 10 

8.2 Adjustments to the Procedure 10 

9 Investigation 10 

9.2 Investigations relating to staff other than Directors 10 

9.4 Investigations relating to Directors 10 

9.6 The investigation process 11 

10 The disciplinary hearing 12 

11 The disciplinary panel 13 

11.1 The disciplinary panel relating to staff other than Directors  13 

11.2 The disciplinary panel relating to Directors 13 

11.3 Roles of all parties involved in a disciplinary hearing 13 

12 The disciplinary hearing process 14 

13 Disciplinary sanctions 15 

13.2 Warnings 17 

13.4 Examples of misconduct 17 

13.5 Examples of gross misconduct 17 

 

Page 69



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 4 November 2022 

14 Disciplinary action of Trade Union representatives 18 

15 Raising a Grievance during disciplinary action 19 

16 Suspicion of criminal behaviour 19 

17 Criminal proceedings during disciplinary action 19 

18 
Criminal charges or convictions / Inappropriate actions outside of 
work 

19 

19 Fraud and investigations 19 

20 Right of appeal 19 

21 Appeal outcomes 21 

22 Disciplinary records 22 

 

Appendix 1: Guidance to conducting a disciplinary investigation 

Appendix 2: Guidance to reaching a disciplinary outcome 

Appendix 3: Disciplinary appeal form 

24 

26 

28 

  

 
 
 

Page 70



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 5 November 2022 

 
1 Introduction 

Cherwell District Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedure applies to employees only. 
It does not apply to agency workers, consultants, self-employed contractors, volunteers 
or interns.  

 
Disciplinary rules and procedures are necessary for encouraging fairness and 
consistency in the treatment of people at work. It is recognised that effective 
performance monitoring and managerial support should reduce the need for formal 
disciplinary action. 
 

1.1 The purpose of this policy and procedures is to provide a framework within which 
managers can work with employees to maintain satisfactory standards of conduct and 
the aim of both informal and formal disciplinary measures is to improve the performance 
of an employee with a view to helping them to fulfil their duties and responsibilities 
successfully. The standards of conduct expected of all employees are set out in the 
Employee Code of Conduct Policy which is available from the intranet and the Council’s 
corporate rules are contained in the contract of employment and in employment policies 
and procedures. 

 
1.2 Rules 

Rules are needed to set standards of conduct for employees to follow.  At the Council 
corporate rules are contained in the contract of employment and in employment policies 
and procedures. They may be supplemented by other rules or requirements particular to 
a service area.  Rules will kept to a minimum but will include (not an exhaustive list): 
 

 Attendance or timekeeping 

 Absence 

 Damage to Council property 

 Discrimination 

 Harassment or bullying 

 Health and Safety 

 Smoking on Council property, including vehicles (except for designated smoking 
areas) 

 Unreasonable failure to follow an instruction issued by a manager or supervisor 

 Unsatisfactory work performance (where this isn’t classified as capability). 
 
1.3 The procedures are designed to help the Council deal consistently with disciplinary 

issues and to give employees the opportunity to respond before any formal action is 
taken. 
 

1.4  These procedures do not form part of any contract of employment or other contract to 
provide services, and the Council may review this document from time to time following 
consultation with UNISON and subject to agreement with the Personnel Committee may 
make changes to the content. Changes may result from employee, management and 
UNISON feedback and/or from changes in employment legislation.  

Page 71



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 6 November 2022 

 
1.5 Employees will be advised of the nature of any complaint against them, and they will 

have the opportunity to explain. 
 
1.6 Employees will be given the opportunity to state their case and be represented or 

accompanied by a colleague or Trade Union representative of their choice. 
 

1.7 Employees will not normally be dismissed for a first breach of discipline except in the 
case of gross misconduct. 
 

1.8 Employees will have a right of appeal against any disciplinary penalty or action taken. 
 

1.9 The level of warning issued by a manager (or committee in the case of Senior Officers) 
will depend on the severity of the misconduct. The sanction for gross misconduct will 
normally be dismissal without notice and without pay in lieu of notice. 
 

1.10 Where an employee's record shows a pattern of recorded disciplinary issues, e.g. 
repeated misconduct occurring once a live warning has lapsed, the Council may 
consider extending the duration of any warning or escalating any new action against the 
employee to the next stage of the policy (i.e. as if the prior live warning had not lapsed). 
 

1.11 Timescales for meetings, appeals etc, may be varied by mutual agreement. The 
intention is to avoid unreasonable delay but to allow for reasonable flexibility. 
 

1.12 All matters relating to this procedure must be treated as confidential. 
   
2 Scope 

This policy, the procedures and the accompanying guidelines apply to all employees of 
Cherwell District Council. The policy and procedures do not apply to casual workers, 
agency workers, consultants, self-employed contractors, volunteers or interns. Neither 
do they apply to those which hold the statutory roles of Chief Executive, Monitoring 
Officer and Finance Section 151 Officer for which separate statutory procedures apply. 

 
2.1  This procedure is used to deal with misconduct. It does not apply to cases involving 

genuine sickness absence, proposed redundancies or poor performance. In those 
cases, reference should be made to the appropriate policy or procedure. 

 
2.2  The Council will consider disciplinary action against an employee for actions inside or 

outside of work which may have a bearing on an employee's continued employment or 
on the reputation of the Council. Employees must notify their managers immediately of 
any charge or conviction. 

  
2.3  The day-to-day supervision of employees is part of the normal managerial process and 

is outside the scope of this procedure. Any shortcomings should be brought to the 
employee’s attention as soon as possible in an effort to achieve an improvement in an 
informal way. Minor conduct issues can often be resolved between the employee and 

Page 72



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 7 November 2022 

their line manager. Issues arising as a result of misconduct/negligence will be dealt with 
under this policy and procedures. Issues which relate to poor performance as a result of 
a lack of capability will generally be dealt with under the Council’s Capability Policy. 

 
2.4  Disciplinary matters are dealt with sensitively by the Council and all employees must 

treat as confidential any information communicated to them in connection with an 
investigation or disciplinary matter. 

 
3 Employee's responsibilities 

All employees have a responsibility to: 
 

 Take full accountability for their actions and inactions 

 Maintain expected and reasonable levels of attendance and performance at work 

 Respect and work in line with the Council's Code of Conduct 

 Attend and participate in relevant meetings 

 Comply with the Council's policies 

 Conform with any Council or statutory rules or agreements applicable to their role 

 Maintain a reasonable standard of behaviour acceptable to management and other 
employees including behaviour as outlined in the Code of Conduct and in line with 
the Equal Opportunities policies. 

 
4 Support for employees and managers 
4.1 Employees may contact HR for support and guidance about the disciplinary procedure. 
 
4.2 UNISON is also able to offer support and guidance to employees who are members of 

the union and who are facing potential disciplinary action.  
 
4.3 Our Employee Assistance Programme provide a 24/7 counselling and information 

service to assist employees with personal or work-related problems.  
 
4.4 If an employee has difficulty at any stage of the procedure because of a disability, they 

should discuss the situation with their manager or HR as soon as possible. 
 
4.5 Managers should contact HR in respect of all potential disciplinary action. 
 
5 The policy stages 
5.1 The possible stages of the disciplinary procedure are as follows: 
 

 Informal action 

 Suspension 

 Formal stage, including:  

 Stage 1   Oral recorded warning 

 Stage 2   Written warning 

 Stage 3   Final written warning  

 Stage 4a Dismissal with pay or with pay in lieu of notice  

 Stage 4b Summary dismissal 

Page 73



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 8 November 2022 

 
5.2 In exceptional circumstances as part of the Formal stage, alternatives to dismissal may 

also be considered, at the Council’s discretion. 
 
6 Informal action  
6.1 In the course of day-to-day activities there will be occasions when managers will need 

to advise employees informally of minor breaches of discipline. Minor conduct issues 
can often be resolved informally between the employee and their manager. These 
discussions should be held in private and without undue delay whenever there is 
cause for concern. Managers should record any such informal action for their own 
reference as information will not be placed on the employee’s personal file. In some 
cases, an informal verbal warning may be given. An informal warning will not form part 
of the employee’s disciplinary records. Formal steps will then be taken under this 
policy and procedure if the matter is not resolved, or if informal discussion is not 
appropriate (for example, because of the seriousness of the allegation). 

 
6.2 Mediation may be used as an alternative way of managing a situation informally. This 

does not preclude the use of formal disciplinary procedures.  
 
7 Suspension 
7.1 The Council may decide to suspend an employee pending an investigation. The 

suspension will be for no longer than is necessary to investigate any allegations of 
misconduct against the employee or so long as is otherwise reasonable while any 
disciplinary proceedings against the employee are outstanding. A manager or 
supervisor may, in exceptional circumstances, send an employee home pending a 
decision about suspension rather than suspend immediately.   

 
7.2 The Council will confirm the arrangements of the suspension to the employee in 

writing. While suspended the employee should not visit Council premises or contact 
any of the Council’s clients, customers, suppliers, contractors or staff, unless the 
employee has been authorised to do so by manager. 
 

7.3  Suspension is not a disciplinary measure, and is not pre-judging the allegations, the 
outcome of a disciplinary investigation or possible disciplinary hearing. It is a means by 
which the Council can protect its interests, and those of its employees, while an 
investigation takes place. Any such suspension will be with full basic pay. 

 
7.4 The decision to suspend an employee will normally be the responsibility of the Director 

of HR (or delegated other HR representative) and/or the Monitoring Officer, in 
conjunction with the employee’s manager.  
 

 
7.5 The duration of the suspension will vary according to the situation, but timescales will 

be as short as reasonably possible, and the employee will be given weekly updates by 
their manager. A log should be kept by the manager of any communications made 
between the employee and the Council. 

Page 74



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 9 November 2022 

 
7.6 The suspension of an employee should take place on a face-to-face basis at a 

meeting. Where it is not possible to meet with the employee face-to-face, ideally a 
conversation with the employee should be held via telephone or video conference call 
to inform them of their suspension. Written confirmation should then be given to the 
employee concerned as soon as is reasonably possible either at the meeting or 
immediately afterwards confirming the suspension is on full pay and the review date.  

 
7.7 If suspension of an employee is contemplated, alternatives should always be 

considered, such as a temporary relocation or reallocation of duties, or a short ‘cooling 
off period’ (e.g. the remainder of the working day), or, if repetition of the offence is 
possible, enhanced supervision or monitoring of the employee. Where suspension has 
taken place, it should be reviewed at regular intervals during the investigation to see if 
it is appropriate to keep it in place. Any decision to end a suspension before an agreed 
end date will be made by the manager who actioned the suspension and should be 
done in consultation with HR. 

 
7.8 Suspension should be considered on the following grounds: 
 

7.8.1  The allegations could constitute gross misconduct. 
 
7.8.2  The continued presence at work of one or more of the employees involved 

would impede a full and impartial investigation (e.g. they may have access 
to certain records, contact with other employees who may be associated 
with the investigation or may be likely to sabotage the investigation 
deliberately). 

 
7.8.3  There is considered to be a chance of a recurrence of the alleged offence. 

 
7.9 During the period of suspension, the employee remains employed by the Council, but 

they are not required to attend work. They are not otherwise required to carry out any 
of their normal duties and should not attend the workplace unless authorised by their 
manager to do so or invited to attend meetings in line with the disciplinary process. 
They must, however, be contactable and available to attend work if required and 
should not undertake any outside work of any nature during normal working hours 
including out of hours/standby rota duties or overtime. They must also be available to 
participate in the investigatory process. 

 
7.10 Where the Investigation Officer has reason to believe that the employee concerned 

has committed a criminal offence, they will immediately inform the Monitoring Officer 
who will decide whether to report the matter to the police. 

 
8 Formal stage 
8.1 Where a manager feels that an allegation about an employee’s attitude/conduct or 

performance is serious enough to warrant an investigation s/he should follow the 
formal disciplinary procedure as outlined within this policy. 

Page 75



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 10 November 2022 

 
8.2 Adjustments to the Procedure 

When following the formal disciplinary procedure managers are required under the 
Equalities Act 2010 to make reasonable adjustments for employees with a disability. 
Where a manager is already aware that an employee has a disability or believes this to 
be the case they should work closely with HR before taking any disciplinary action, 
seeking advice from the Council’s occupational health advisers if necessary. 

 
9 Investigation   
9.1 Prior to any potential disciplinary action, an investigation will be conducted into the 

allegations of misconduct by an appointed Investigation Officer. The matter must be 
investigated in order to ascertain, so far as is reasonably practicable in the 
circumstances, a fair and balanced view of the facts relating to any disciplinary 
allegations against the employee, before deciding whether to proceed with a 
disciplinary hearing.   

 
Investigation meetings are solely for the purpose of fact-finding and no decision on 
disciplinary action will be taken until after a disciplinary hearing has been held. 

 
9.2 Investigations relating to staff other than Directors  
 For all posts other than Directors, the Investigation Officer will be appointed by the 

Assistant Director of HR or the Monitoring Officer (if the investigation implicates 
members of the HR team and independence is required). All Investigation Officers will 
have been trained in undertaking investigations.  

 
9.3 The Investigation Officer should be at a level either equivalent to or higher than the 

employee being investigated. The Investigation Officer will usually be an employee of 
the Council who will not have a conflict of interest that might prejudice a fair hearing. 
An external workplace investigator may be appointed where it is considered 
necessary. 

 
9.4 Investigations relating to Directors 

The decision to conduct an investigation into the alleged misconduct of a Director must 
be made by a special meeting of the Personnel Committee.   

 
9.5 The investigation should be undertaken by the Monitoring Officer or an external 

Independent Investigation Officer appointed by the Personnel Committee.  
Investigation Officers will be supported by a member of HR to ensure the process is 
followed correctly and to provide any advice. 

 
 
9.6 The investigation process 
 Generally employees will be informed that an investigation is to take place, however in 

some circumstances (e.g. potential fraud), it may be appropriate not to inform the 
employee at the commencement of the investigation. If necessary, covert surveillance 
may be used subject to consultation with the Monitoring Officer, Governance team and 

Page 76



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 11 November 2022 

following the completion of a privacy impact assessment in accordance with the 
Information Commissioner’s guidance on the monitoring of employees. In exceptional 
circumstances, the use of surveillance will be sanctioned by the Monitoring Officer (in 
consultation with the Governance team and HR) giving reasons why its use is 
necessary. 

 
9.7  Where the alleged disciplinary matter is straightforward, the investigation may be brief 

and ideally take no longer than 28 working days. In more complex situations, 
investigations are likely to take longer and employees will be kept appraised of 
progress by their manager or the Investigation Officer on a weekly basis. The 
employee will be advised in writing should any additional allegations arise during an 
investigation. 

 
9.8 The Investigation Officer will interview the employee(s) and any witnesses. The 

employee and witnesses do not normally have the right to bring a companion to an 
investigation meeting. However, the Council may allow a companion to accompany the 
employee if it is considered suitable and reasonable in the circumstances, for example 
to help the employee overcome any disability or any difficulty in understanding English.  

 
9.9 In conducting the investigation, the Investigation Officer should ensure that they have 

spoken to the employee and all relevant witnesses. The employee and all witnesses 
will be given an opportunity to review their interview notes. They will also be able to 
provide documentation that they consider is relevant to the matters being investigated.  

 
9.10 Once the investigation is complete the Investigation Officer will write a report on 

his/her findings and present it to the employee’s Director or Monitoring Officer (if 
appropriate). This person may, upon seeing the results of the investigation, decide that 
there is no case to answer and therefore no reason to convene a disciplinary hearing. 
Alternatively, it may be decided that a disciplinary hearing should be convened. 

 
9.11 The Employee and witnesses should be made aware that a record of their interview 

note will form part of the overall investigation report and that the report might also be 
used in internal and external reporting and processes. They will also be informed that 
they may be called to attend any subsequent disciplinary hearing and the full 
investigation report may be made available to all involved in the disciplinary procedure.  

 
9.12 It is not the role of the Investigation Officer to recommend any level of disciplinary 

action, but they should present full findings to enable the manager receiving the 
investigation report to decide whether any further action should follow as a result of the 
investigation.  

 
9.13 The manager who has reviewed the investigation report will deliver the outcome to the 

employee at a meeting if it is deemed appropriate, but any outcome will also be 
confirmed in writing to the employee. A copy of the investigation report may be 
attached. 

 

Page 77



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 12 November 2022 

10 Disciplinary hearing  
10.1 Should a disciplinary hearing be required the employee will be informed in writing of 

the following:  
 

10.1.1  Details of the allegations made, and whether they are being considered as 
gross misconduct. 

 
10.1.2  The basis for the allegations. 
 
10.1.3 What the likely range of consequences will be if the Council decide after 

the disciplinary hearing that the allegations are well-founded. 
 
10.1.4 The date, time and place of the disciplinary hearing (giving the employee 

at least five working days’ notice). 
 
10.1.5 The name of who will chair the hearing and the individuals that will form 

part of the panel. 
 
10.1.6 Their right to be accompanied to the hearing by a work colleague or 

trained trade union representative.  
 
10.1.7 A summary of relevant information gathered during the investigation. 
 
10.1.8 That they will be supplied with copies of any documents to be referred to 

in the hearing at least two working days in advance of the hearing.  
 
10.1.9 That they will receive a copy of any relevant witness statements, except 

where a witness's identity is to be kept confidential, in which case the 
Council will provide as much information as possible to the employee 
while maintaining confidentiality. 

 
10.1.10 That they must submit any documents supporting their response to the 

allegations to the relevant member of the HR team at least two working 
days in advance of the hearing so that these documents can be referred to 
in the hearing. 

 
10.1.11 Reminding the employee about the disciplinary policy by providing a copy 

of the document.  
 
10.1.12 Their right to bring their own witnesses, providing that the Council has 

been told of the names of the witnesses in advance of the hearing. The 
witnesses should be given at least two days’ notice of the requirement to 
attend the hearing. 

 
10.1.13 That is the employee is found to have committed misconduct, the Council 

may decide to issue them with either a written warning, a final written 

Page 78



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 13 November 2022 

warning or dismiss them (with notice, pay in lieu of notice or without notice 
if gross misconduct has been committed). 

 
10.1.14 That the employee has the right to appeal the outcome of the disciplinary 

hearing.  
 
10.2 The hearing should be held as soon as possible after the investigation. The purpose of 

a disciplinary hearing is to establish the facts of the case, and to decide what further 
action (if any) should be taken.  

 
10.3 If the hearing needs to be held remotely, the Council will provide the reason why and 

notify the employee of the relevant arrangements to join the hearing virtually.  
 
11 The disciplinary panel  
 
11.1 The disciplinary panel relating to staff other than Directors  
 The disciplinary panel will consist of two officers: a Chair and a HR Business Partner. 
 
11.2 The disciplinary panel relating to Directors 
 The disciplinary panel will be members of the Personnel Committee.  
 
11.3 Roles of all parties involved in a disciplinary hearing 
 

Chair – a manager authorised to hear the case, possibly from a different service team 
and more senior in position than the employee.  
 
Whoever is intending to chair the hearing must have been appropriately trained in 
discipline handling and must have delegated authority as defined in the Constitution of 
the employing authority to determine the appropriate sanction if action is considered 
necessary.  
 
The person who chairs the hearing will not be a person who will have been involved in 
any previous investigation or disciplinary hearing concerning the employee. 
 
Employee – opportunity to state their case, answer the allegations, call any relevant 
witnesses and ask questions of any witnesses. 
 

 Investigation Officer – appointed by Human Resources and appropriately trained, 
they will present their investigation findings to the Chair as part of the management 
case.  

 
For Statutory Officers and Corporate Directors, the Investigation Officer will be 
determined by Personnel Committee who may nominate an external Independent 
Investigation Officer. 
 

Page 79



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 14 November 2022 

 Witness – a person invited by the employee or the Investigation Officer to give their 
statement of events relating to the allegations of the case. 

 
 HR Business Partner – proactively supports the Chair on the panel and ensures that 

the employee and Chair have copies of all documents relating to the hearing and 
advises all parties on disciplinary procedures where necessary.  

 
 Colleague/Trained Trade Union Representative - may present the case on behalf of 

the employee, which could include making opening and closing statements, presenting 
the case, and asking questions of any witnesses. 

 
 Note taker – takes notes of the hearing and circulates final version to employee, Chair 

and HR representative. Audio and video recording of the hearing will only be used with 
the agreement of all parties. 
 

12 The disciplinary hearing process 
12.1 A disciplinary hearing can be a very traumatic and stressful experience for any 

employee, regardless of whether they are the employee against whom the allegations 
are made, or a witness to either side. It is therefore the role and responsibility of the 
Chair of the hearing to ensure that arguments and unpleasantness are avoided.  If the 
hearing shows any signs of getting out of control, it is advisable to call an adjournment 
for a few minutes to allow the situation to calm down. 

 
12.2 A disciplinary hearing should usually follow the following format: 
 

12.2.1 Introductions of all parties. 
 
12.2.2 The management case will normally be presented by the Investigating 

Officer, calling witnesses as necessary. 
 
12.2.3 The employee (and their representative, if present) will then have the 

opportunity to state their case, again with the provision to call witnesses 
as necessary. 

 
12.2.4 Each side will have the opportunity to ask relevant questions of the other 

side, including their witnesses.  
 
12.2.5  The Investigation Officer will summarise, followed by the employee. 
 
12.2.6 At the end of the hearing both sides will withdraw while the panel (and any 

advisers) consider their decision. 
 

12.3 If witnesses are called, they will attend the hearing solely to make their statement / 
present their evidence and to answer questions. They will then withdraw. 

 

Page 80



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 15 November 2022 

12.4 If, during the hearing, substantial documentary evidence which has not previously 
been disclosed is produced by either side, the other party shall have the right to 
request an adjournment in order to allow sufficient time to examine the evidence.  

 
12.5 Other than when parties are summing up, the panel can ask questions of either side. 
 
12.6 At the end of the decision-making adjournment, the employee (and their 

representative, if present) and the person presenting the management case will be re-
called and given the decision, which will be confirmed in writing, normally within five 
working days.  If the decision is to apply a disciplinary sanction, the employee must 
also be informed of their right of appeal. 

 
12.7 In circumstances where it is considered necessary to delay making a decision, the 

employee will be informed of this decision, and advised when and how they will be 
notified of the decision in respect of the disciplinary hearing. This will be done as soon 
as possible and normally no later than five working days after the date of the hearing. 

 
12.8 If at any stage during the course of the hearing the Chair believes it necessary to 

obtain additional advice, the proceedings will be adjourned whilst this advice is sought. 
 
12.9 Employees will be provided with a copy of the notes from the hearing (or a recording of 

the hearing in some circumstances). 
 
13 Disciplinary sanctions 
13.1 Following a disciplinary hearing, and having heard all the evidence, the Chair  will 

need to decide whether or not disciplinary action is warranted and, if so, at what level. 
The following sanctions may apply: 

 
13.1.1 Stage 1 - Oral recorded warning 

 If it is decided that an employee's conduct or performance is unsatisfactory, the 
employee will be issued with an oral recorded warning. This will be a `live warning' for 
a duration of three months, after which it will be disregarded for disciplinary purposes, 
subject to no further misconduct by the employee during this period. A copy of the note 
of warning will remain on the employee's personal file for the duration of the oral 
warning. Managers will hold regular review meetings with employees who have a `live' 
warning. 

 
 
 

13.1.2 Stage 2 - Written warning 
 This may be issued if the first offence by the employee is serious enough to warrant 

action at this level. Alternatively, it may be issued after an oral recorded warning, if 
there is no improvement in standards by the employee, or if a further offence has 
occurred. A copy of this written warning will be kept on the employee’s file but will be 
disregarded for disciplinary purposes after six months, subject to satisfactory conduct 

Page 81



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 16 November 2022 

and/or performance during this period. Managers will hold regular review meetings 
with employees who have a `live' warning. 

 
13.1.3 Stage 3 - Final written warning 

 This may be issued if the first offence by the employee is serious enough to warrant 
action at this level. Alternatively, it may be issued after an oral recorded warning, or a 
written warning, depending on the severity of any subsequent misconduct or the failure 
to achieve required standards of performance / conduct. A copy of the warning will be 
kept on the employees file but will be disregarded for disciplinary purposes after 12 
months subject to satisfactory conduct and/or performance during this period. 

 
In exceptional cases the period of the final written warning may be extended to 24 
months. Managers will hold regular review meetings with employees who have a `live' 
warning. 

 
13.1.4 Stage 4a - Dismissal with pay 
If there is no satisfactory improvement or if further serious misconduct occurs following 
previous warnings, after a consideration of the facts and circumstances of the case, an 
employee may be dismissed with notice or with pay in lieu of notice. 

 
 13.1.5 Stage 4b – Summary dismissal 
 If, after investigation, an employee is found to have committed an act of gross 

misconduct, the normal consequence will be summary dismissal without any notice or 
pay in lieu of notice. While the alleged gross misconduct is being investigated, 
employees may be suspended with pay. 

 
In exceptional circumstances, alternatives to dismissal may also be considered, at the 
Council’s discretion. These would be authorised by a Director and be accompanied by 
a final written warning. Examples include: 

 

 Demotion 

 Transfer to another department 

 A period of suspension without pay 

 Loss of seniority 

 Reduction in pay / benefits 

 Loss of future pay increment or bonus 

 Loss of overtime 
 
 
 

13.2 Warnings 
 If issued with a warning, an employee will receive written confirmation of this within five 

working days of the disciplinary hearing. The letter will include: 
 

13.2.1 The reason for and duration of the warning. 

Page 82



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 17 November 2022 

13.2.2 The consequences of failure to improve and sustain any improvement for 
at least the duration of the warning, including the possibility of further 
disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 

 
13.2.3 Relevant details and timescales relating to the employee's right of appeal. 
 

13.3 Employees should also be written to in the event of no further action being taken. 
 
13.4 Examples of misconduct 
 The following list indicates the type of conduct which would normally constitute 

misconduct. This list is neither exclusive nor exhaustive. 
 

13.4.1 Disregard of safety practices, procedures and rules. 

13.4.2 Unsatisfactory job performance (for reasons other than incapability). 

13.4.3 Poor timekeeping: late starting, early finishing, excessive break periods. 

13.4.4 Excessive and/or unauthorised absence. 

13.4.5 Leaving the workplace without permission during working hours. 

13.4.6 Undertaking activities detrimental to recovery whilst on sick leave. 

13.4.7 Failure to follow Council procedures. 

13.4.8 Misuse of Council facilities or equipment.  

13.4.9 Insubordination or refusal to obey a reasonable instruction. 

 13.4.10 Smoking in prohibited areas. 

 

13.5 Examples of gross misconduct 
 The following list indicates the type of conduct which would normally constitute gross 

misconduct. This list is neither exclusive nor exhaustive. 
 

13.5.1 Serious abuse. 

13.5.2 Corrupt practices. 

13.5.3 Where an employee is charged with a criminal offence inconsistent with 
their position. 

13.5.4 Theft, fraud and deliberate falsification of records (e.g. expenses claims, 
time sheets). 

13.5.5 Physical violence, threats, fighting, assault on another person. 

13.5.6 Serious bullying, harassment or discrimination. 

13.5.7 Deliberate damage to Council property or an employee's property. 

13.5.8 Removal or disposal of any Council property without management 
permission. 

Page 83



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 18 November 2022 

13.5.9 Serious insubordination. 

13.5.10 Interference with safety devices or equipment putting other employees or 
visitors at risk. 

13.5.11 Serious misuse of the Council's property or name. 

13.5.12 Bringing the Council into serious disrepute. 

13.5.13 Serious incapability whilst on duty brought on by alcohol or illegal drugs, 
the misuse of drugs or the possession of illegal drugs whilst at work. 

13.5.14 The supply and trafficking of drugs, money laundering activities, or the 
use, sale or distribution of illegal substances. 

13.5.15 Serious negligence which causes or might cause unacceptable loss, 
damage or injury. 

13.5.16 Serious infringement of health and safety rules. 

13.5.17 Serious breach of duty of confidence (subject to the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act and Confidential Reporting Policy). 

13.5.18 Deliberate or reckless damage, mis-use or interference with or 
unauthorised use of Council IT equipment and/or software. Unauthorised 
entry to electronic records. 

13.5.19 Serious misuse of electronic systems. 

13.5.20 Conviction of a criminal offence that is relevant to the employee's 
employment. 

13.5.21 Deliberate falsification of a qualification that is a stated requirement of the 
employee's employment or results in financial gain to the employee. 

13.5.22 Undertaking private work on Council premises and/or in working hours 
without express prior permission.  

13.5.23 Serious breach of trust or confidence. 

 
14 Disciplinary action of Trade Union representatives 

Although normal disciplinary standards will apply to the conduct and performance of 
trade union representatives, no disciplinary action will be taken until the circumstances 
of the case have been discussed with the individual concerned, a senior trade union 
representative or full time official and in consultation with HR. This arrangement is in 
place to avoid the action being misconstrued as an attack on the union itself or on its 
representation and negotiating role and is in accordance with the ACAS Code of 
Practice. 

 
 
15 Raising a Grievance during disciplinary action 

The decision to suspend or continue with disciplinary action pending the investigation 
of a grievance will depend upon the circumstances of each individual case. This 
decision will be made by Human Resources (or Monitoring Officer if applicable). 

Page 84



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 19 November 2022 

 
16 Suspicion of criminal behaviour 
 If criminal behaviour is suspected or alleged the Investigation Officer and Human 

Resources (and Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer, if the allegation is against a 
Director) will discuss the situation and a decision will be taken over notifying the police.   

 
17 Criminal proceedings during disciplinary action 

Where criminal proceedings are pending against an employee, the Council will 
determine whether disciplinary action is appropriate. The disciplinary procedure will not 
normally be delayed or deferred because of any such proceedings unless it would be 
prejudicial (in the view of the Council) to those investigations to proceed. Managers / 
Investigation Officers should liaise with HR for further guidance. 

 
18 Criminal charges or convictions / Inappropriate actions outside of work 
18.1 Criminal charges or convictions may result in disciplinary proceedings being taken 

against the employee up to and including summary dismissal. This will occur where, in 
the opinion of the Council the charge or conviction is such as to affect, or be likely to 
affect, the suitability of the employee for the position in which they are employed, or 
the business or reputation of the Council, or where the existence of the charge or 
conviction could, in the opinion of the Council, otherwise seriously undermine the trust 
and confidence that the Council has in the employee. 

 
18.2 A criminal investigation, charge or conviction relating to conduct outside work may be 

treated as a disciplinary matter if we consider that it is relevant to your employment. 
 
19 Fraud and investigations 

Where there is any suspicion of theft or fraud the employee's manager must contact 
the Section 151 Officer who will refer the matter immediately to Audit and/or Fraud 
Investigation, and the Director of HR. 

 
20 Right of appeal 
20.1 Employees have the right to appeal against any disciplinary action. Reasons for 

appeal may include: 
 

 that the sanction is unfair/inconsistent under the circumstances (i.e. judgement) 

 new evidence has arisen which was not considered at the original disciplinary 
hearing and which may have a bearing on the outcome (i.e. facts) 

 that the policy and procedure have not been applied correctly (i.e. process) 
 
20.2 When lodging an appeal, the employee should state the grounds of their appeal, and 

provide any supporting evidence. 
 
20.3 The employee must provide notice of their appeal in writing within five working days of 

being informed in writing of the disciplinary sanction being imposed against them. All 
appeal notifications should be sent to the Director of HR. A template appeal form is 
included at Appendix 3. 

Page 85



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 20 November 2022 

 
20.4 Appeal hearings will take place as soon as reasonably possible upon receipt of the 

employee's written notice of appeal.  
 
20.5 Delegated authority to hear appeals 
 Appeal hearings will be made up as follows: 
 

Employee appealing / reason Who will hear the appeal  
Statutory Officers and Corporate 
Directors 

Appeals Committee  

Employee who is dismissed 
Director (independent* and trained) plus HR 
representative 

Employee who is not dismissed 
Director (independent* and trained) plus HR 
representative 

 
* No members of the appeal panel will have been involved previously in the 
investigation or disciplinary hearing. 
 

20.6 For an appeal hearing there will be a Senior Manager and HR Representative in 
attendance (who will all previously have not been involved in the case.  

 
20.7 The employee shall be given notice in writing at least five working days in advance of 

the time and place of the appeal hearing and they will be allowed to be represented or 
accompanied and shall be entitled to call witnesses (but those witnesses are not 
entitled to representation). This notice may be extended to allow an employee to be 
adequately represented. 

 
20.8 The failure of a party to attend an appeal shall not prevent the appeal from being 

considered in their absence. In such circumstances the appellant will be notified in 
writing of the decision. 

 
20.9 The management side will be presented by the Chair of the disciplinary hearing who 

will be able to call witnesses (who are not entitled to representation). 
 
20.10 In advance of the hearing, the panel will be provided with a copy of all the documents 

presented to the original disciplinary hearing. They will also have a copy of the record 
of the disciplinary hearing, the letter confirming the outcome of the disciplinary hearing, 
the letter of appeal and all other relevant information. The employee and the 
management side will also be allowed to submit additional evidence that relates to the 
reasons for the appeal. The panel should make their findings based on the 
documentation and the submissions at the appeal hearing. 

 
20.11 The employee and management side will provide any documentation they wish the 

panel to consider by no later than five working days before an appeal hearing. 
Supplementary documentation produced after this time will only be admitted at the 
discretion of the panel. 

Page 86



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 21 November 2022 

 
20.12 During the appeal hearing both parties will be admitted to the room. The Chair will 

introduce those present, the procedure will be outlined by the Chair of the panel and 
questions on the procedure will be invited. 

 
20.13 The employee and their representative will make their case. The employee may be 

questioned by the management side and then the panel. 
 
20.14 The Council will then make its case and may be questioned by the employee and then 

the panel. In making their case witnesses may be called by the employee or the 
Council. The names of the witnesses must be notified to HR. This must be done by the 
deadline notified to HR at least five days before the appeal hearing. The Council and 
employee will be responsible for ensuring their witnesses are aware of the time, date 
and place of the hearing. Witnesses may be questioned by all parties and then the 
panel. Witnesses will only be admitted to the appeal hearing for the duration of their 
evidence. 

 
20.15 Where the panel considers that further information or discussion is required the 

meeting will be adjourned for a period. The length of the adjournment being decided by 
the Chair. 

 
20.16 At the end of the appeal hearing the Council will have opportunity to sum up and then 

the employee will have opportunity to sum up. Both parties will then be asked to 
adjourn. The panel will then decide whether to ask the parties to wait whilst a decision 
is reached or confirm that a letter will be sent confirming the outcome. The Appeals 
panel will then make their decision. A formal letter will be sent to the employee 
confirming the decision of the Appeals panel within five working days of the appeal 
hearing. A copy of appeals information will be retained on the employee’s personal file. 

 
21 Appeal outcomes 
21.1 The outcome of the appeal will be either: 
 

21.1.1 The appeal is successful in whole or in part, known as upheld (e.g. could 
be a lesser sanction imposed or the sanction could be removed 
altogether). 

 
21.1.2 The appeal is unsuccessful, known as rejected- the original decision 

stands. 
 
21.2 The appeal panel decision is final. No further internal right of appeal exists. 
 
21.3 Where an appeal against dismissal fails, the effective date of termination of 

employment will be the date on which the employee was originally dismissed, not the 
date of appeal. 

 
22 Disciplinary records 

Page 87



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 22 November 2022 

22.1 Documents relating to a disciplinary process may be kept on file in accordance with 
the Employment Practices Data Protection Code and Data Protection legislation. 

 
22.2 Disciplinary records will be kept for 6 months.   
 

Page 88



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 23 November 2022 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 – Guidance to conducting a disciplinary investigation 

Appendix 2 – Guidance to reaching a disciplinary outcome 

Appendix 3 – Disciplinary appeal form 

  

 

Page 89



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 24 November 2022 

Appendix 1 - Guidance to conducting a disciplinary investigation 
 
It should be made clear the difference between an investigatory meeting (the 
purpose of which is to establish the facts and not to make any decisions based 
on these facts) and a disciplinary hearing (the purpose of which is to determine 
whether there are any grounds to impose a disciplinary sanction on the 
employee).  
 
Those involved in undertaking investigations should take care: 

 not to jump to conclusions prematurely 

 investigate fully 

 not to say or do anything that implies judgement of the employee’s actions or 
behaviour. 

 
Investigatory interviews 
When interviews are deemed appropriate by the Investigation Officer as part of 
an investigation the following guidance should be used. 
 
1. Interview preparation 
Before an interview takes place the Investigation Officer should decide who, if 
anyone will need to be interviewed and in what order and this may involve asking 
the employee under investigation or other witnesses whether anyone important to 
establishing the facts should be interviewed. The Investigation Officer should give 
reasonable advance notice to the employee and witnesses in writing of the 
interviews being required. 
 
Careful thought should be given to further relevant documentation that may be 
required, and of any facts that will need to be confirmed in writing such as the 
evidence of witnesses. 
 
The Investigation Officer should prepare an outline of issues and questions that 
need to be explored in order to establish the facts – what, when, where and how.  
 
2. The interview 
The Investigation Officer should ensure they have all of the relevant facts and 
documentation available to them at the interview meeting. 
 
The Investigation Officer should ensure a formal but polite and open approach is 
used that will encourage individuals to talk freely in order to establish the facts. It 
is important that nothing is prejudged, and that individuals do not feel that blame 
is being apportioned. The Investigation Officer should try and distinguish between 
hearsay and speculation from facts. 
 
Hearsay evidence which is defined as “evidence offered by a witness, based 
upon what someone else has told him/her” and not upon personal knowledge or 
observation should not generally be admitted. However, if admitted, it should be 
dealt with very cautiously and little weight should be given to it. 
 

Page 90



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 25 November 2022 

Anonymous evidence should not normally be used and is given little weight. 
Exceptions to this may be: 

 where the allegations are serious and can be verified through independent 
investigation, or 

 if a potential witness had a real fear, reasonably held, that they would suffer 
substantial detriment if they were to sign their statement. 
 

3. Interview style 
Focus on the evidence and facts relevant to the investigation i.e. what, where, 
when and how.  
 
Pace the interview so that it can be easily followed by the interviewee and the 
note taker. 

 
The interviewer should be impartial and non-judgemental. 
 
Do not speculate and predict outcomes. 

 
The interview can be stopped at any time to allow a comfort break or request for 
a break. 

 
It may be helpful to follow a date order approach to the interview – this will allow 
the Investigation Officer to see the order of events. 
 
4. Recording the interview 
The Investigation Officer should decide how to record the interview. Interviews 
that are likely to be lengthy and complex and particularly when interviewing the 
employee under investigation, voice recording is often the easiest and most 
efficient method, however this needs to be agreed by both the employee and 
Investigation Officer. Some employees may feel uncomfortable being voice 
recorded and no one should feel pressurised into doing so.   
 
There may be instances where voice recording is not deemed appropriate, for 
example, where a simple statement of fact is required or a prewritten statement is 
used ad verbatim and can be submitted or the minute taker is able to work on a 
lap top and type notes during an interview. 
 
The key is to choose the most efficient and effective way to record information in 
the circumstances having regard to the interviewee and the nature of the 
interview.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 26 November 2022 

Appendix 2 - Guidance to reaching a disciplinary outcome 
 
A disciplinary hearing is not the same as a court of law, where the defendant has 
to be proved guilty. The judgement to be made after hearing all the evidence is 
whether or not, on the balance of probabilities, the misconduct occurred. 
 
In arriving at the decision, the following questions should be considered: 
 

 Have all the relevant facts been ascertained? 

 Was the individual given a chance to put his/her case? 

 On the balance of probabilities is it reasonable to believe that the misconduct 
has occurred? 

 
Unless the answer to all 3 questions is yes, a disciplinary sanction should not be 
imposed upon the employee. 
 
Having decided that the misconduct has taken place, the Chair of the hearing, or 
in the case of Directors, the appropriate Committee, should then decide upon an 
appropriate sanction. 
 
The following questions will need to be considered: 
 

 What sanctions have been imposed in similar cases in the past? 

 Does the disciplinary procedure give any guidance as to whether or not this 
type of misconduct normally constitutes misconduct or gross misconduct? 

 What is the employee’s disciplinary record: is he/she already in receipt of 
some kind of disciplinary warning? 

 Are there any extenuating circumstances, for example provocation, justifiable 
ignorance of the rules, lack of experience, etc? 

 
The Chair will also need to take into account the level of sanction he/she is 
authorised to take under the terms of the Disciplinary Procedure and in 
accordance with the relevant Constitution (see below). 
 
Once all the above have been considered and a tentative decision reached, the 
following three questions should be considered: 
 

 Is the misconduct sufficiently serious to warrant the proposed level of 
sanction? 

 Is it consistent with good practice? 

 Is the proposed sanction reasonable given all the circumstances? 

 
Unless the answer to all 3 of the above is yes, the proposed sanction should be 
reconsidered. 

Page 92



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 27 November 2022 

 
It is possible to take disciplinary action at any level for a first disciplinary offence 
dependent on the circumstances. The table below sets out the levels of 
delegated authority to take disciplinary action at the various stages, and reflects 
the Constitution of the Council: 
 

EMPLOYEE 
GROUP 

STAGE ACTION RESPONSIBILITY 
(HR to be consulted 
about process and 
consistency of 
proposed action) 

APPEALS DURATION 
OF 
WARNINGS 

All staff 
(except 
Directors) 

1 Oral 
Warning 

Line Manager or above Director 3 months 

2 Written 
Warning 

Line Manager or above 
(or nominated other from 
another service area) 

Director 6 months 

3 Final 
Written 
Warning 

Line Manager or above 
(or nominated other from 
another service area) 

Director 12 months (or 
may be longer 
in exceptional 
circumstances) 

4 (A) Dismissal Director or delegated 
other HR representative 

Appeals 
Panel 

N/A 

4 (B) Summary 
Dismissal 

Director or delegated 
other HR representative 

Appeals 
Panel 

N/A 

Directors  ALL Any formal 
action 

Personnel Committee  Appeals 
Panel 

N/A 

 
 

Page 93



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 28 November 2022 

Appendix 3 - Disciplinary Appeal Form 
Please send this form to the Director of HR within five working days of receiving your 
disciplinary hearing outcome letter 

 

Your Name  

Your Job Title  

Your Service Area  

Your Manager  

 

Details of your appeal (please continue on separate sheet if required) 

Please explain the reasons for the appeal (refer to the policy) and attach any supporting 
evidence.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Individuals involved in the appeal 

Please provide the names and contact details of any people involved in your appeal, 
including witnesses you wish to call during the appeal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcome requested from the appeal 

Please set out what outcome you would like to see from your appeal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Name of trade union/other representative (if 
appropriate) 

 

 

Signature 
 

Page 94



Appendix 4 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure 29 November 2022 

Date 
 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   

 

 
Capability Policy 

 
 

Page 97



Appendix 5 
DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Capability Policy   

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of implementation 1 December 2022 

 
DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

 

Committee Date of meeting pending 
approval 

Personnel Committee 17 November 2022 

 
DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  

 

This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District  
 

DATE FOR REVIEW 
 
No later than 1st November 2025 but sooner if impacted by legislative changes. 
 
REVISION HISTORY 

 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 98



Appendix 5 
CONTENTS  
 
1 Introduction          4 
 
2 Exclusions          4 
 
3 Principles          5 
 
4 Responsibilities         5 
 
5 Day to day management        6 
 
6 Informal Stage          6 
 
7 Formal Stage          7 
 
8 First Stage          7  
 
9 Second Stage          8  
 
10 Third Stage          9 
 
11 Formal Capability Hearing        9 
 
12 Time Limit          10 
 
13 Appeal           11 
 
Appendix 1 Action Plan Template 
Appendix 2 Hearing order of proceedings 
 

Page 99



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 4 November 2022 

1. Introduction 

 

1.2 The Capability Policy provides a framework for dealing with cases where employees fail to 

achieve the performance standards expected of them due to lack of ability and where there 

is no evidence of deliberate misconduct by the employee. 

  

1.3 The purpose of this procedure is to provide a framework within which managers can work 

with employees to maintain satisfactory performance standards and to encourage 

improvement where necessary. It provides employees with the opportunity to improve 

through a series of informal and formal stages.  Failure to improve in a required timeframe 

could result in dismissal. Employees will not normally be dismissed for performance reasons 

without previous formal warnings. However, in serious cases of gross negligence, or in any 

case involving an employee who has not yet completed their probationary period, dismissal 

without previous warnings may be appropriate.  

 

1.4       This procedure does not form part of any contract of employment or other contract to provide 

services and it may be amended at any time following consultation with trade union and 

subject to agreement from the Personnel Committee. 

 

2. Exclusions 

 

2.1 This policy applies to all employees of Cherwell District Council. However, the Council may 

depart from this procedure where appropriate (including but not limited to during an 

employee's probationary period). It does not apply to agency workers, consultants, self-

employed contractors, volunteers or interns. 

 

2.2 Those who are covered by a separate policy include: 

 

 Chief Executive 

 Monitoring Officer 

 Section 151 Officer 

 

2.3 The Capability Policy does not apply in the following circumstances: 

 

 Cases of gross negligence will be dealt with in accordance with the Disciplinary Policy 

and Procedure. 

 Staff within their probation period will be subject to the Probationary Policy. 

 Cases of ill health should be dealt with in accordance with the Sickness Absence  

Policy. 

 Cases where the lack of capability may be due to disability or pregnancy, in which 

case advice should be sought from Human Resources. 

 

2.4 Consideration should be made by managers as to whether an employee’s poor performance 

might be health and/or disability related and whether reasonable adjustments should be 

made in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 to the employee’s working arrangements, 

including changing their duties or providing additional equipment or training. The Council may 

also consider making adjustments to this procedure in appropriate cases. 

 

 

Page 100



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 5 November 2022 

3. Principles 

 

3.1 All employees have a contractual duty to be competent and to perform their role in an 

acceptable way.   

 

3.2 Where this is not happening, employers are entitled to intervene with a view to: 

 

 Improving the performance of the employee informally first.  

 Invoking the formal process if no satisfactory improvement is made or where the 

matter is deemed very serious. 

 

3.3 If an employee fails to reach the required performance standards as a result of carelessness, 

negligence or idleness this will not constitute a capability issue but will be managed through 

the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedures.   

 

3.4 The timescales adopted for the various stages of this policy will vary in accordance with the 

seriousness of the problem, and the nature of the work carried out by the post holder. 

 

3.5 If following formal capability action, the employee’s performance improves to a satisfactory 

standard they will no longer be monitored in accordance with the Capability Policy.  However, 

if further unsatisfactory performance occurs whilst the warning is still live this Policy will be 

re-invoked at the next stage.  

 

3.6 Employees will have the right to be accompanied at all formal meetings by a trade union 

representative or colleague. 

 

3.7 Employees will be made aware of their right of appeal against any formal action taken in this 

procedure. 

 
3.8 Under the Equalities Act 2010 managers are required to consider, and where practicable, 

make reasonable adjustments for employees with a disability.  

3.9 The Council will deal with performance matters sensitively and with due respect for the 

privacy of any individuals involved. All employees must treat as confidential any information 

communicated to them in connection with a matter which is subject to this capability 

procedure.  

 

4. Responsibilities 

 

4.1 Managers are responsible for: 

 

 ensuring that performance issues are addressed promptly, fairly, and consistently.  

 clearly explaining the shortfall between the employee’s performance and the required 

standards. 

 providing regular feedback on work performance. 

 establishing the cause of the poor performance and any action which can be taken to 

help improve the situation. 

 making reasonable adjustments in cases where the employee is not performing their 

duties satisfactorily due to health reasons. 

Page 101



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 6 November 2022 

 identifying any support services which might be required (e.g. the identification of a 

mentor, training or coaching, referral to Occupational Health or Counselling). 

 ensuring that reasonable time limits and clear and measurable targets are agreed 

with employees to achieve the required standard of performance.  During these time 

periods, performance must be closely monitored and recorded, and employees 

advised of any shortcomings and the degree to which performance must be improved.  

This may include reviewing the amount of supervision needed. 

 maintaining clear records of difficulties encountered, assistance given, and any 

actions taken. 

 setting a date for a review meeting. 

 

4.2 Employees are responsible for: 

 

 ensuring that they are aware of their responsibilities in their role. 

 performing their duties to the required standard. 

 engaging in any training and development that will enable them to reach the required 

standard. 

 responding to corrective measures that are identified. 

 familiarising themselves with the Council’s policies and procedures. 

 informing their manager of any issues which could be affecting their work. 

 

5. Day to day management 

 

5.1 Employees have a contractual responsibility to perform to a satisfactory level and should be 

given every help and encouragement to do so as part of day-to-day management. 

Supervision should include opportunities for the manager to provide training, support and 

feedback to the employee about their performance against the job role and targets. 

  

5.2  Where under-performance is identified the manager should seek to provide appropriate 

training and support to assist the employee to rectify this. 

 

6. Informal stage 

 

6.1 Wherever possible, managers should seek to address any individual or minor performance 

problems as they occur on an informal basis.  Only in serious cases should the informal 

action stage be omitted.     

 

6.2 The manager should record their own notes of informal meetings held with the employee to 

ensure that there is evidence of discussions taken place and actions agreed as a result of 

the meeting. Notes of any such informal discussions will be ignored for the purposes of any 

future capability hearings. 

 

6.3 Where performance continues to be unsatisfactory after day-to-day management, then the 

manager should seek to agree an informal action plan (appendix 1) of performance 

improvements.  This may be incorporated in the employee’s appraisal or can be in a separate 

document.  If following a review of the action plan the manager feels that the employee’s 

performance is still below standard it will be appropriate to proceed with the formal stages of 

this policy.  The manager should seek advice from Human Resources. 

 

Page 102



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 7 November 2022 

7. Formal Stage  

 

7.1 Stage One 

 

7.2 First Stage - formal capability meeting 

 

7.3 If following informal assistance, the employee’s performance hasn’t satisfactorily improved, 

or where the matter is serious, the Council will undertake an assessment or investigation to 

decide if there are grounds for taking formal action under this policy. If so, the employee will 

be invited in writing to attend a first stage formal meeting, where a HR representative will also 

be present.  The employee will be offered the right to be accompanied and should be given 

five working days’ notice of the meeting and its purpose in writing.  The letter must include 

full details of the areas of under-performance identified by the line manager and the reasons 

for those concerns so that the employee can prepare for the meeting.  

 

7.4 During the meeting the performance against any previous informal action plan will be 

discussed.  Any additional capability issues must also be fully discussed and considered.  

The manager and employee should agree an action plan based on SMART objectives 

(Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, Time bound).   

 

7.5 The line manager will chair the meeting and will explore whether there are any reasons for 

the under-performance.  If necessary, consideration should be given to carrying out a referral 

to Occupational Health in parallel to the monitoring period.  Only in exceptional circumstances 

will the process be halted pending the results of an Occupational Health referral. 

 

7.6 Following the meeting, the line manager must write to the employee within five working days, 

notifying them of the outcome. If it is decided that the employee’s performance is 

unsatisfactory, the Council will give the employee a first written warning setting out the areas 

in which the employee has not met the required performance standards, targets for 

improvement, measures to be implemented (such as training required), a period of review 

and the consequences of failing to improve within the review period.  After the active period, 

the warning will remain permanently on the employee’s personnel file but will be disregarded 

in deciding the outcome of future capability proceedings. 

 

7.7 The employee must also be given a date for a review meeting so that they are aware how 

and when their performance will be reviewed. 

 

7.8 The line manager will monitor and assess the employee’s performance for an appropriate 

period of time (long enough to overcome any barriers previously identified). The line manager 

will arrange regular feedback / 1-2-1 sessions, in private, and not wait until the end of the 

review period. 

 

7.9 First Stage - formal capability review meeting 

 

7.10 At the end of the first stage monitoring period, the manager and a HR representative will 

meet with the employee to review progress.  The employee will be offered the right to be 

accompanied and should be given five working days’ notice of the meeting and its purpose 

in writing.  The line manager will give a clear indication of the outcomes of the monitoring 

process, and identify any progress made and any further improvements needed.  The 

Page 103



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 8 November 2022 

employee should be allowed to respond to the outcomes of the monitoring process and have 

the opportunity to ask questions.   

 

7.11 The line manager must decide based on the discussions and progress what action is  

appropriate.  Available options include: 

 

 No further formal monitoring under the Capability Policy as the employee’s 

performance has improved sufficiently.  In this situation a record of the first stage 

capability action will be held on the employee file for a period of one year and if 

performance becomes unacceptable during this time then the second stage of the 

policy will be invoked.  

 

 Progression to the second stage of the Capability Policy if no significant improvement 

is evident.   

 

 An extension of the review period  

 

7.12 The line manager must write to the employee informing them of the decision.  If the second  

stage of the policy is to be invoked the letter should provide details of the further 

improvements in performance required and also set a date for the second stage review 

meeting.  The letter should also warn the employee that if the required improvement in their 

performance is not achieved then following a stage two review they may progress to a formal 

hearing where one outcome could be dismissal. 

 

7.14 The employee has the right of appeal against this decision; however, the second stage will  

commence immediately, and will only be halted in circumstances where an appeal is  

received. 

 

8.0 Stage Two 

 

8.1 Second Stage - capability review meeting 

 

8.2 If the employee’s performance does not improve within the review period set out in a first 
written warning / improvement note, or if there is further evidence of poor performance while 
the employee’s improvement note is still active, the Council may decide to hold a Stage 2 
capability meeting.  

 

8.3    At the end of the second stage monitoring period the line manager and a HR representative 

will meet with the employee to review progress.  The senior manager (line manager’s 

manager) not involved in the first stage should chair the meeting. The employee will be 

offered the right to be accompanied and should be given five working days’ notice of the 

meeting and its purpose in writing.   

 

8.4 If the line manager decides that the employee’s performance is unsatisfactory, the employee 

will be given a final written warning setting out the areas in which the employee has not met 

the required performance standards, targets for improvement, measures to be implemented 

(such as training required), a period of review and the consequences of failing to improve 

within the review period. A final written warning will normally remain active for 12 month. After 

the active period, the warning will remain permanently on the employee’s personnel file but 

will be disregarded in deciding the outcome of future capability proceedings. 

Page 104



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 9 November 2022 

 

8.5   The employees performance will be monitored during the review period and the line manager 

will then decide based on the discussions and progress what actions are appropriate. 

Available options are: 

 

 No further formal monitoring under the Capability Policy but a record of the 

Second Stage Capability Action will be held on the employee file for a 12 month 

period and if performance becomes unacceptable during this time then the Third 

Stage will be invoked.  

 

 To extend the monitoring period, only in exceptional cases, where good 

improvement is evident, but the employee has just fallen short of the required 

performance standards. 

 

 Progress to the Third Stage of the Capability Policy if no significant improvement 

is evident.   

 

9.0 Stage Three  

 

9.1       Formal Capability Hearing 

 

9.2 Where an employee has failed to reach the required standards of performance or conduct 

required for their position after previous stages of the Capability Policy, they should be invited 

to a formal capability hearing. 

 

9.3 The Council may decide to hold a Stage 3 formal capability hearing if it has reason to believe: 
 

(a)  the employee’s performance has not improved sufficiently within the review period 
set out in a final written warning. 

(b)   the employee’s performance is unsatisfactory while a final written warning is still 
active, or 

(c)   the employee’s performance has been grossly negligent such as to warrant dismissal 
without the need for a final written warning. 

 
9.4    The employee should be invited in writing to attend the capability hearing and be given five 

working days’ notice of the hearing.  The letter should state the reasons why they have fallen 

short of the required standards, the reasons for the concerns and should advise them that a 

possible outcome of the capability hearing could be dismissal. 

 

9.5   Any documents or other evidence which will be considered during the capability hearing must 

be provided to the designated hearing manager and the employee at least five working days 

prior to the hearing. The employee will also be provided with, where appropriate: a summary 

of the relevant information gathered as part of any assessment or investigation and/or a copy 

of any relevant witness statements, except where a witness’s identity is to be kept 

confidential, in which case the employee will be given as much information as possible while 

confidentiality is maintained. 

 

9.6 The employee will have a right to be accompanied at the meeting by a work colleague or 

trade union representative.  The employee’s companion may make representations, ask 

questions and sum up the employee’s case, but will not be permitted to answer questions 

behalf of the employee.  

Page 105



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 10 November 2022 

 

9.7 If the employees’ companion is unavailable at the time a hearing is scheduled and will not be 

available for more than five working days, the Council may require the employee to choose 

someone else. 

 

9.8 The Council may, at its discretion, allow the employee to bring a companion who is not a 

colleague or trade union representative (for example, a member of the employee’s family) 

where this will help overcome a particular difficulty caused by a disability, or where the 

employee has difficulty understanding English. 

 

9.9 The hearing will be chaired by an independent designated manager who will be assisted by 

an HR representative.  Neither should have been involved in previous stages of the process. 

 

9.10   The employee may ask relevant witnesses to appear at the hearing, provided the employee 

provides the Council with sufficient advance notice to arrange the attendance of the 

witnesses. The employee will be given the opportunity to respond to any information given 

by a witness.  

 

9.11   If it is found that the employees’ performance is unsatisfactory the Council may consider a 

range of options including: 

 

(a) dismissal (with full notice unless performance has been so negligent as to amount to 

gross misconduct) 

(b)   demotion or redeployment into another suitable job at the same grade  

(c)   extending an active final written warning and setting a further review period (in 

exceptional cases where the Council believe a substantial improvement is likely within 

the review period); or 

(d)   a final written warning (where no final written warning is currently active). 

9.12   If there are reasons for conducting any capability hearing remotely (for example, by using 

remote working platforms or technologies), the Council will provide those reasons to the 

employee and notify the employee of the relevant arrangements and instructions for joining 

the capability hearing. The use of remote working platforms or technologies may not be 

appropriate (for example, where an employee has a hearing condition or does not have 

access to relevant equipment or software). In these cases, the capability hearing will take 

place in person where possible. 

9.13 If the employee, or their witnesses, are unable to attend the capability hearing, they should 

inform the Council immediately so that an alternative date and time for the hearing can be 

arranged. An employee must make every effort to attend the capability hearing, and failure 

to attend without good reason may be treated as misconduct. If the employee fails to attend 

without good reason or are persistently unable to do so (for example, for health reasons), the 

Council may have to take a decision at the capability hearing based on the available evidence 

including any written representations the employee has made. 

 

10. Time Limits  

 

10.1 Copies of formal capability action will be held on an employee’s personal file and will be 

marked as ‘spent’ after the following periods: 

Page 106



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 11 November 2022 

 

 Stage One - Capability action   6 months 

 Stage Two - Capability action   12  month  

 

11. Appeals 

 

11.1 Appeals against the first and second stages 

 

11.2    Employees will be advised in writing about their right to appeal against the outcome of the 

first or second stage of the process.  The letter will detail who the appeal should be addressed 

to.  If the employee considers that a decision about poor performance under this policy and 

procedure is wrong or unjust, they should appeal in writing stating their full grounds of appeal 

to the Assistant Director – Human Resources. The employee’s notice of appeal shall include 

a statement in writing of the grounds on which they wish to challenge the decision and must 

be made within five working days of receipt of the outcome.   

 

11.3 Appeals against warnings shall be considered by the Assistant Director – Human Resources 

and assigned to an independent Manager. 

 

11.4 Appeal hearings for warnings will normally take place within fifteen working days of receipt 

of the employee’s written notice of appeal where possible. 

 

11.5 If the outcome of the second stage is that the manager recommends the disciplinary policy 

is invoked, during the disciplinary process the employees will not be able to appeal in respect 

of this outcome.  However, the employee will be able to appeal against any decision or 

sanction made at the disciplinary hearing.    

 

11.6 Appeals against the third stage formal hearing 

 

11.7 Employees will be advised in writing about their right to appeal against the outcome of the 

third stage of the process.  The letter will detail who the appeal should be addressed to.  If 

the employee considers that a decision about poor performance under this policy and 

procedure is wrong or unjust they should appeal in writing stating their full grounds of appeal 

to Assistant Director - HR. The employee’s notice of appeal shall include a statement in 

writing of the grounds on which they wish to challenge the decision and must be made within 

five working days of receipt of the outcome.   

 

11.8 Appeals against dismissal shall be held in accordance with the appeals process as set out in 

the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. The date on which dismissal takes effect will not be delayed 

pending the outcome of the appeal. However, if the employee’s appeal is successful, the 

employee will be reinstated with no loss of continuity or pay. 

 

11.9 Appeals against any other outcome of the third stage will be heard in accordance with the 

procedures for Stages One and Two. 

 

11.10 If the employee raises any new matters in their appeal, the Council may need to carry out  
further investigation.  If any new information comes to light, the Council will provide the  
employee with a summary including, where appropriate, copies of additional relevant  
documents and witness statements. The employee will have a reasonable opportunity to 
consider this information before the hearing. 

Page 107



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 12 November 2022 

 
11.11 The Council will give the employee written notice of the date, time and place of the appeal 

hearing. This will normally be two to seven days after the employee receives the written 
notice.  

 
11.12 The appeal hearing may be a complete re-hearing of the matter or it may be a review of the 

fairness of the original decision in the light of the procedure that was followed and any new 
information that may have come to light. This will be at the Council’s discretion depending on 
the circumstances of the employee’s case. In any event, the appeal will be dealt with as 
impartially as possible. 

 
11.13 Where practicable, the appeal hearing will be conducted by a senior manager who has not 

been previously involved in the case. A member of the HR team and manager who 
conducted the capability hearing will also usually be present.  

 
11.14 A hearing may be adjourned if the Council need to gather any further information or give 

consideration to matters discussed at the hearing. The employee will be given a reasonable 
opportunity to consider any new information obtained before the hearing is reconvened. 

 
11.15 Following the appeal hearing the Council may: 
  

(a)  confirm the original decision. 
(b)  revoke the original decision; or 
(c)  substitute a different penalty. 

 
11.16 The Council will inform the employee in writing of the final decision as soon as possible,  

usually within one week of the appeal hearing. We will aim to inform you of the final decision 
in person where possible. There will be no further right of appeal. 

  

Page 108



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 4 November 2022 

 

Appendix 1  Action Plan      

      

Development area Specific requirement Measure of success Timeframe Progress/comments 

     

     

     

     

     

      

Employee signature:   Date:   

      

         

 
Manager signature: 

  
 
Date: 

 
 

      

         

 

P
age 109



Appendix 5 

Capability Policy 4 November 2022 

Appendix 2 
 
Hearing Order of Proceedings 

  

Opening 

The designated officer should begin by explaining how the hearing will be carried out.   

 

The Capability issue 

At the hearing the line manager will explain the capability issues and the outcomes of the 

formal monitoring process.   

 

Right to reply 

The employee will be invited to respond to the management presentation and state their 

case. The employee should also be given a reasonable opportunity to ask questions and 

seek clarification. 

 

Summing up 

After questioning is completed the designated officer will summarise the main points of the 

discussion and will ask the employee to sum up and add anything further they wish to say. 

 

Adjournment 

The designated officer will then adjourn the hearing before a decision is taken about whether 

a sanction is appropriate. This allows time for reflection and proper consideration.   

 

More matters come to light 

If new matters come to light in the course of a hearing, not being matters which could have 

been previously raised by the employee, the hearing shall be adjourned if requested by either 

the management or the employee side to investigate the new facts and the hearing will be 

reconvened when this has been done. The employee will be given a reasonable opportunity 

to consider any new information obtained before the capability hearing is reconvened.  

 

Penalty/Sanction 

The designated officer will consider why any measures previously taken have not led to 

improvement and may identify whether there are measures that could be taken which may 

improve the employee’s performance. If it is decided that, on the balance of probability, the 

employee’s performance has been poor and is unlikely to reach an acceptable standard the 

appropriate sanction will be considered.   

 

If dismissal is a possibility, the designated manager should also establish whether there is 

any likelihood of a significant improvement being made by the employee within a reasonable 

time and whether there is any practical alternative to dismissal, such as redeployment. 

 

At the end of the hearing the designated officer should inform the employee of the outcome.  

The outcome of the capability hearing should then be confirmed in writing to the employee. 

 

 

Page 110



Standby and On-Call 

Appendix 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Standby and On Call Policy 
 

Page 111



Standby and On-Call 

Appendix 6 

 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Standby and On Call Policy 

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of implementation 14 June 2023 

 

DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

Committee Date of meeting 

pending approval 

 

Personnel Committee  

 

 

13 June 2023  

 

DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  

This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District Council.  

DATE FOR REVIEW 

This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis for the purposes of rates but will be 

reviewed by committee no later than 14 June 2026 but sooner if impacted by 

legislative changes. 

REVISION HISTORY 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

  

Page 112



Standby and On-Call 

Appendix 6 

 

Section Title Page 

1 Introduction 1 

2 Eligibility for standby payments 1 

3 Standby allowance 1 

4 On-Call allowance 1 – 2 

5 Status and review of rates 2 

  

 

 

 

Page 113



Standby and On-Call 

Appendix 6 

 

Standby and on-call policy 
 
1. Introduction 
  
1.1 It is the Council’s intention to ensure that all staff who are on a standby or on-

call rota receive fair and equitable compensation for inconvenience caused. It 
also seeks to ensure that staff receive payment in line with the level of 
inconvenience. 

 
2. Eligibility for standby payments 
 
2.1 The only staff eligible to receive a standby or on-call payment are those 

dealing with emergencies relating to out-of-hours services that are either 
statutory Council requirements or are essential to the delivery of Council 
services; this policy excludes Officers who have an all-inclusive payment 
clause in their Terms and Conditions of employment. 

 
2.2 Only one member of staff per service will receive a standby or on-call 

payment at any given time; except in exceptional circumstances and with 
prior agreement. 

 

2.3 For the purpose of this policy, out of hours does not include office opening 
hours i.e., 8.45am to 5.15pm Monday to Friday.  

 
2.4 The Assistant Director will determine the rota to be used in providing an out 

of hours service, and which positions / staff should be included in the rota. 
As hours may vary per service area, an hourly rather than weekly rate will 
be used. 

 
2.5 This policy needs to be used in conjunction with the Council’s flexitime 

policy. 
 
3. Standby allowance 

 
3.1 Standby arrangements will require the employee to remain contactable, 

outside of normal working hours, for a stated period (in accordance with an 
agreed rota). Eligibility for standby as opposed to on-call requires an 
employee to be available to attend a site or incident if required and within a 
reasonable time period and therefore the employee is required to remain fit 
to attend work. 

 
3.2 The standby rate is reviewed annually in-line with the cost-of-living award. 
 

3.3 Should an employee be called to attend an incident rather than being able to 
deal with this over the telephone, overtime will be paid in accordance with 
the Council’s current overtime rates. 

 

3.4 Double time will be paid for any hours an employee is required to be on 
standby during bank holidays. There is no enhanced rate for weekends. 

 

Page 114



Standby and On-Call 

Appendix 6 

 

3.5 The standby rate is £2.79 per hour (as at 1 April 2023). 
 
4. On-Call allowance 

 
4.1 On-call arrangements will require the employee to remain contactable, outside 

of normal working hours, for a stated period (in accordance with an agreed 
rota). On-call means that the Council does not require the employee to attend 
a site or incident as a result of any phone calls or contact. Queries can be 
dealt with via a telephone or other remote communication. Even though the 
employee is not required to attend work whilst on-call they should remain in a 
fit state as if they were attending work. 

 
4.2 The on-call rate is reviewed annually in-line with the cost-of-living award and 

recognises the difference in both the volume of queries but also the fact that 
the employee’s home life balance is less disrupted as call outs are never 
required.  The allowance covers all work undertaken in dealing with queries 
and overtime does not apply to anyone undertaking on call duties. 

 
4.3 The on-call rate is £1.77 per hour (as at 1 April 2023). 
 
5. Status and review of rates 

 
5.1 Should the needs of the service change then the Assistant Director has the 

right to review out of hours arrangements which may result in a change in 
the rota, and possibly the withdrawal of the out of hours service and the 
related entitlement to any related allowance. Standby and call out 
allowances attract normal deductions, including pensions where employees 
are in scheme membership. 
 

5.2 Rates for on-call and standby will be reviewed on an annual basis in 
accordance with the pay award. 

 
 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Market Supplement Policy  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 117



 

2 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 
 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Market Supplement Policy  

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of 
implementation 

14 June 2023 

 
 
DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

 

Committee Date of meeting 
pending approval 

CDC  
Personnel Committee  
 

 
13 June 2023 

 
 
DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  

 

This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District Council. 
 
DATE FOR REVIEW 
 
No later than 12 June 2026 but sooner if impacted by legislative changes. 
 
REVISION HISTORY 

 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

 
  

Page 118



 

3 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

CONTENTS 
 
1 Introduction           4 

2 Policy statement          4 

3 Objectives           4 

4 Legislation and regulation         4 

5 Policy detail – operations and implementation      5 

6 Market Data           6 

7 Quantification          7 

8 Procedure and approval         7 

9 Level of award of market supplement       7 

10 Review           8 

11 Equality and diversity         8 

12 Monitoring and review         8 

Appendix A Market Supplement Request Form 

 

  

Page 119



 

4 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 A market supplement policy is required at Cherwell District Council (CDC), as there 

can be exceptional circumstances and/or sudden changes in market forces deeming 
it necessary to pay a market supplement in addition to base salary in order to recruit 
or retain staff.  

 
1.2 Market supplements may be agreed when it can be shown that the salary range 

attached to ‘hard to fill’ posts is significantly lower than those offered elsewhere and 
that this is having an adverse impact on the ability to recruit and retain suitably 
qualified, experienced and skilled staff.  

 
1.3 This document contains the agreed approach to be taken for the application and 

monitoring of market supplements within CDC.  

 

1.4 This policy applies to all employees of Cherwell District Council. It does not apply to 

staff retained on agency contracts or consultancy agreements, self-employed 

contractors, volunteers or interns. This policy will not apply to other third party or 

partner organisations where employees are not employed directly by the Council. 

 
2. Policy statement 

2.1 In order to ensure that the council maintains its commitment to equal pay, the 
application of a market supplement must be supported by evidence that the council 
has been unable to attract and retain staff. The inability to recruit or retain staff must 
be the ‘material reason’ why a post, that is graded the same as other similar posts, 
receives a supplement. 

 
 

3. Objectives 

 

The objective of this policy is to ensure that the council remains competitive when 

recruiting into key roles. 

 

4. Legislation and regulation 
 
4.1      Market supplements are lawful under the Equality Act 2010 where there is evidence 

to justify that market factors are the “material reason” for the post attracting a higher 
rate of pay than other posts similarly graded. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



 

5 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

5. Policy detail – operations and implementation 

 
5.1  Any market supplement shall be objectively justifiable and will be applied according to 

the following principles: 
 

 Market supplements will normally only be considered for posts identified as ‘hard 
to fill’.  
 

 It cannot be assumed that simply because other employers offer higher salary 
levels then CDC, we will necessarily follow suit.  

 

 It is important that employee expectations of market supplements are managed 
and, before a market supplement is awarded, an employee must agree to and 
sign a temporary amendment to their contract of employment for no longer than 
two years.  

 

 If a market supplement is introduced to a particular post category, the market 
supplement should be applied to all posts that hold the same job title, with the 
same job description/person specification and grade, to ensure equity and 
minimise risk of equal pay challenge. 

 

 The payment of a market supplement will be expressly identified in the employee’s 
contract of employment or confirmed by a letter of variation. The start date, review 
date and potential end date of the supplement will be clearly stated, together with 
the annual amount payable and the monthly equivalent. 

 

 Designated employees will be eligible for the market supplement (pro-rata for part 
time workers), payable in monthly instalments.  

 

 Market supplements form part of an employee’s pay and will be pensionable. Any 
overtime payments will include the market worth element. Payments for sickness 
and holiday will include the market worth element.  
 

 The payment will be expressly identified as a separate pay element and will be 
subject to the usual deductions for income tax, national insurance and pension. 
 

 Market supplements receive a cost-of-living rise.  
 

 Market supplements will be highlighted as part of an employee’s salary when 
mortgage application references are being completed and total income 
calculations are being carried out.  

 
5.2  The case for payment of a market supplement must be robust enough to resist the 

challenge of an equal pay claim. It would be expected that the majority of the following 
evidence can be provided before consideration will be given to applying a 
supplement:  

 

Page 121



 

6 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

 You will need to show why you cannot fill the post at the salary level determined 
by the councils’ pay structure. You will need to give details of your recruitment 
methods, or clear pre-existing evidence that a campaign will not succeed, and 
give credible reasons why you are not able to employ a suitably qualified or 
experienced candidate or one who, with extra training, could do the job.  

 

 You will need to provide evidence of a poor response to adverts both in terms of 
quantity and quality of candidates (either from a new campaign, or pre-existing 
evidence). NB: Human Resources may be asked to investigate the reason for the 
poor response as this may not be about salary levels – it could be due to other 
factors.  

 

 The recruitment methods you use, including advertising, should be appropriate to 
the job and represent a genuine attempt to employ a suitably qualified or 
experienced person.  

 

 You should have advertised the job in the most appropriate on-line media for 
reaching suitably qualified or experienced candidates. Advertising in Jobcentre 
Plus may be acceptable for certain occupations.  

 

 Your job advertisement must include the skills, qualifications and/or experience 
needed.  You should also include:  

 the main duties and responsibilities of the job;  

 the location of the job;  

 an indication of the salary or salary range and other components of 
the total reward package offered;  

 the closing date for applications  
 
5.3 A market supplement will not be applied without the recruiting manager either 

attempting to fill the post through appropriate recruitment methods or providing clear 
pre-existing evidence that a campaign will not succeed. 

 
           If you have not met these conditions, we may refuse an application for a market 

supplement, and you may have to carry out another recruitment exercise before we 
reconsider the application.  

 
 
6. Market data 

 
6.1  Evidence must be collected by the recruiting manager, with appropriate support from 

Human Resources, that demonstrates more substantial remuneration packages are 
available for the specified post (or group of identical posts) within the appropriate 
local, regional and national marketplace.  

 
6.2 At least three examples of comparable jobs, salaries, total package and summary of 

main duties will be required. Wherever possible, the job description and person 
specification of those comparable roles should be provided. The recruiting manager 
will research this with support from Human Resources.  

 

Page 122



 

7 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

6.3 Salary benchmarking data should be provided from relevant salary surveys, 
recruitment media or professional organisations. Benchmarking salary information 
can also be sought by the Human Resources Team, to confirm (or otherwise) that the 
pay is not sufficiently competitive to attract candidates of the calibre required and 
recommend an appropriate level of market supplement for the type of post taking into 
account national and regional pay considerations.  

 
 
7. Quantification  

 
7.1 A market supplement is expressed as a fixed cash sum allowance, payable monthly, 

and will be subject to annual cost of living pay awards. For part-time staff, this will be 
calculated pro-rata to the hours worked.  

 
7.2 Under no circumstances will the market supplement alter the grading of the post 

determined through the job evaluation process. The supplement only affects the total 
pay that the post attracts for the period it is applied. The allowance will be paid for an 
initial maximum period of two years however, an extension to this period maybe 
considered.   

 
 
8. Procedure and approval   

 
8.1 The need for a market supplement can be proposed by the recruiting manager.  

Approval for the implementation of a market supplement must be approved by CLT. 
 
8.2 Step one  

The recruiting manager will complete a market supplement request form.  
 

8.3 Step two  
The relevant Assistant Director will present the request to CLT for consideration and 
approval. The Assistant Director of Human Resources should be consulted to ensure 
consistency of approach. 
 

8.4 Step three  
Once approved, the market supplement will be implemented with conditions 
documented in the employee’s contract of employment.  
 
 

9. Level of award of market supplement    

 
9.1  In determining the level of market supplement to be awarded, emphasis will be placed 

on the salaries of comparative jobs within comparable organisations with 
consideration of geographical area.  

 
  
 
 

Page 123



 

8 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

10. Review  

 
10.1 If during the two-year period that the supplement is applied, the duties of the post are 

reviewed and the post is re-graded through the agreed job evaluation process, the 
application and level of any market factor supplement will be reviewed.  

 
10.2 A review will also be carried out when an individual leaves a post that has attracted 

a market supplement, in order to assess the need to advertise the vacancy with a 
market supplement in the current labour market. Where such a review leads to a 
decision to withdraw the market supplement, this will apply with immediate effect to 
vacant post(s). Existing employees still in receipt of a market supplement will continue 
to be paid until the end of the agreed period and thereafter, it will be withdrawn.  

 
10.3  Any employee in receipt of a market supplement will be informed three months before 

the end of the two-year period that the payment is subject to review and that the 
payment may cease at that date subject to the outcome of the review. The review will 
be carried out and the employee informed of the outcome, three months before the 
end of the two-year period.  

 
10.4 If a review results in a decision that the market supplement is no longer justified, it 

will be withdrawn. In these circumstances, individuals affected will be given three 
months’ written notice that the market supplement is being withdrawn.  

 
 
11. Equality and diversity 

 

11.1  The number of employees receiving a supplement will be monitored according to 

gender, disability, age, ethnic origin, religion and sexual orientation to ensure that the 

manner in which the policy is applied does not lead to any discrimination. 

 
12. Monitoring and review 

 
12.1 The impact of the application of market supplements will be monitored by the HR 

Manager to evaluate their impact on the Council ability to recruit and retain 
employees.  

  
12.2 The outcome of all requests to apply a market supplement will be monitored to ensure 

that the policy is applied consistently. 
 
12.3 The Council may review this document from time-to-time following consultation with 

UNISON and subject to agreement with the Personnel Committee may make 
changes to the content. 

  

Page 124



 

9 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

Appendix A:  
MARKET SUPPLEMENT REQUEST FORM  
 

MARKET SUPPLEMENT REQUEST FORM 

Employee (if applicable)   

Post title   

Pay grade   

Service area   

JUSTIFICATION FOR MARKET SUPPLEMENT 

To aid recruitment to a vacant post?              Yes                 No         

To retain existing employee? (where there is a business risk)     Yes                 No         

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE / RATIONALE 

Please provide evidence that objectively justifies the need to pay the market supplement.   

You should address the following considerations: - 

Is the post and/or service a statutory requirement?     Yes                 No         

Please explain:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

How many post(s) are affected by the application of the 

market supplement? 
 

What are the risks if the market supplement is not granted i.e. evidence of operational 

problems caused by recruitment and retention issues, how long the post has been vacant and 

the impact on the service, etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

Are there difficulties in attracting or retaining high quality staff?     Yes                 No        

RECOMMENDATION 

Recommended market supplement for year 1 £ 

Recommended market supplement for year 2 £ 

Page 125



 

10 
Market Supplement Policy  May 2023 

Source of funding / cost centre  

Date of proposed implementation  

Rationale for recommendation:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

APPROVALS  

I am signing to confirm the information in the form is correct and that there is budget provision 
agreed for this post.  

Name  
(recruiting manager)  

Signature Comments 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Date: 

 
 
 

Name  
(Assistant Director) 

Signature Comments 

 
 
 
Date: 

 

Name  
(Assistant Director of 
Finance on behalf of 
CLT) 

Signature Comments 

 
 
 
Date: 

 

Page 126



Appendix 8 

Car User Policy 1  June 2023 

   

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Car User Policy 
 

Page 127



 

Car User Policy 2  June 2023 

 

 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 

Organisation(s) Cherwell District Council (CDC) 

Policy title Car User Policy  

Owner Human Resources 

Version 1.0 

Date of implementation 14 June 2023 
 
 

DOCUMENT APPROVALS 

 

This document requires the following committee approvals: 

 

Committee Date of meeting 
pending approval 

CDC  
Personnel Committee  
 

 
13 June 2023 

 
 

DOCUMENT DISTRIBUTION  
 

This document will be distributed to all employees of Cherwell District Council.  
 
DATE FOR REVIEW 
 
No later than 14th June 2026 but sooner if impacted by legislative changes. 
 
REVISION HISTORY 

 

Version Revision date  Summary of revision 

   

   

   

   

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 

Car User Policy 3  June 2023 

 

 
 
 

Contents Page 

1 Introduction  4 

2 Mileage rate 4 

3 Passengers 4 

4 Eligibility to claim 4 

5 Making a claim  4 

6 Insurance  4 

7 Compliance checks   4 

8 Using a bicycle 5 

9 Public transport 5 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



 

Car User Policy 4  June 2023 

 

 
 
 
1 Introduction  

Cherwell District Council's Car User Policy applies to employees only. It does not 
apply to agency workers, consultants, self-employed contractors, volunteers or 
interns.  

 
Employees who use their own vehicles for business purposes may be entitled to 
claim mileage at the current HMRC recommended rate. 

 
A business trip is travel done in the course of work. It is any trip that an employee 
does at the request of the Council to perform the duties of a job. It does not include 
the commute between home and the workplace.  

 
2 Mileage rates 
 As at 1 April 2023 the HMRC approved business mileage rates are as follows:   

 

Vehicle First 10,000 miles Above 10,000 miles 

Car or van 45p 25p 

Motorcycle 24p 24p 

Bicycle 20p 20p 

 
Business mileage rates are for the shortest reasonable route. Claims for excessive 
mileage will not be authorised without sufficient explanation. 
 

3 Passengers 
The Council encourages you to share transport where possible. The driver of the 
vehicle can claim an additional passenger rate of 5p per mile. 
 

4 Eligibility to claim   
Business mileage can be claimed in the following circumstances: 
 

 Travel to a different site in the course of your duties  

 Travel to a work-related course or conference  

 Other business travel such as visiting customers 
 

Business mileage cannot be claimed for travel between home and the workplace.  
 

5 Making a claim  
 Claims for mileage should be submitted and authorised via iTrent by the 10th of 

each month for them to be paid with your monthly salary.  

 
6 Insurance 

All staff travelling on Council business must have suitable car insurance cover for 
business use. 
 

7 Compliance checks   
Prior to requesting an employee to undertake business travel a line manager should 
satisfy themselves they have suitable: 

Page 130



 

Car User Policy 5  June 2023 

 

 

 Car insurance cover for business use 

 Diving licence 
 
These checks should be repeated by the line manager on an annual basis; 
however, it is the employee’s responsibility to raise without delay any changes in 
circumstances that might affect their eligibility to drive on Council business.  

 
8 Using a bicycle    

If an employee chooses to cycle to Council meetings or on Council business the 
bicycle must be roadworthy. In addition to this it is expected that the employee will 
wear appropriate high visibility clothing and a helmet. Distances travelled should be 
reasonable in terms of time and cost. 

 
9  Public transport  

Where it is more cost effective it may be beneficial to use public transport.  
 

Rail travel should always be 2nd class.  
 

Taxis will be reimbursed where there is a genuine reason for their use e.g., where 
an employee is potentially put at risk due to early morning or late-night travel 
following attendance at a course; where no public transport is available; or where 
there are accessibility issues and reasonable adjustments have been agreed.  

 
All public transport receipts will be reimbursed through iTrent.  

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council 

Personnel Committee 

13 June 2023 

Workforce Profile Statistics 

Report of Chief Executive 

This report is public. 

Purpose of report 

To provide the Personnel Committee with an update on Cherwell District Council’s 

workforce including measuring staff well-being and to highlight the actions officers are 

taking to address any issues. 

1.0 Recommendations 

Officers recommend the committee: 

1.1 Reviews and notes the workforce date for Quarter 4 of 2022/23 provided in 

Appendix one. 

2.0 Introduction 

2.1 Workforce Data for Quarter 4 of 2022/23 has been produced and is available at 

appendix one of this report.  HR monitor workforce data on a quarterly basis to 

identify emerging trends in staff wellbeing and organisational development.  

Comparative data is included to assist CDC with benchmarking against the local 

government sector and, for sensitive information such as ethnicity, gender, age, 

against the make-up of the district and the UK overall.    

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



3.0 Report Details 

3.1 The workforce profile report provides commentary and data for quarter 4 of 

2022/23. It also includes past data where this is available, some of which dates 

back to April 2020 – the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Monitoring data through 

the pandemic helps us to understand how things have changed or are changing as 

the world continues to adjust to a new normal This report provides annual analysis 

on key data such as turnover and absence rates. 

3.2 The report provides statistics on: 

 Headcount & FTE 

 Employment and role basis 

 Agency usage 

 Turnover 

 Leavers by length of service  

 Leavers by reason 

 Sickness absence incidents by reason 

 Sickness absence rates –all absence, short-term, long-term, stress-related 

 Percentage of working time lost due to sickness absence 

 Age profile 

 Gender Profile 

 Ethnicity Profile 

 Apprenticeship information 

 
3.3 The workforce statistics for quarter one of 2022/23, highlighted we were missing a 

significant amount of sensitive information on our employees.  Since then, officers 

have been encouraging all staff to complete this information on our HR system.   By 

quarter 2, completion rates had improved by almost 20% from 48.75% to 68.73% 

and in quarter 3, the completion rate now stands at 75.86%. There has been a 

further rise in quarter 4 to 80.17%. 

 

3.4 HR will continue to encourage all employees to provide this data, whilst stressing 

they don’t have to disclose it, but we need to know if they’d prefer not to. This is so 

we can demonstrate that we have collected all the sensitive information our staff are 

willing to share with us, which will help inform future policies and services. 

 

3.5 The Q1 reported also highlighted a need to improve the exit interview process as 

leavers were choosing not to complete the questionnaire.  The data collected 

through this process can be very informative, in highlighting areas of dissatisfaction 

or that require improving to increase staff retention. Since quarter one, HR has 

updated the process so that leavers are asked to complete the questionnaire but 

also invited to a meeting with a member of the team to discuss their responses.  HR 

implemented the new process in the last quarter and of the 15 leavers in quarter 3, 

46.66% provided an exit questionnaire and attended a meeting with a member of 

Page 134



the HR team. In quarter 4, the exit interview completion rate had increased to 

72.72%.  HR expect the completion rates to continue to improve as the process is 

embedded further.  The data gathered so far has been shared with service 

managers where appropriate.  

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1 Monitoring workforce data helps CDC to compare how it’s performing against the 

rest of the local government sector, to ensure it remains an attractive employer and 

retains its staff.  It also helps the council to measure how well it’s supporting staff’s 

wellbeing and development so it can identify issues at the earliest opportunity to 

address them effectively.  

5.0 Consultation 

N/A 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

6.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons as 

set out below.  

Option 1: Not to complete workforce statistics, this option is rejected as workforce 

analytics will enable CDC to address challenges and efficiencies in the workforce 

more efficiently. 

7.0 Implications 

 Financial and Resource Implications  

7.1 There are no financial implications directly associated with this report.  This is historic 

information for which any costs will already have been incurred. 

 Comments checked by: 

 Leanne Lock, Strategic Finance Business Partner 

 leanne.lock@cherwell-dc.gov.uk, 01295 227098 

 

Legal Implications  

7.2 Monitoring employment statistics assists the Council to understand its employment 

trends and this will aid compliance with employment law obligations. 

 Comments checked by: 

Shiraz Sheikh, Assistant Director of Law, Governance and Democratic Services and 

Monitoring Officer, Shiraz.Sheikh@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Risk Implications  

7.3 There are no risks arising directly from this report.  

Comments checked by: 
Page 135

mailto:leanne.lock@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Shona Ware, Assistant Director – Customer Focus, 01295 221652  

shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Equalities and Inclusion Implications 

7.4  There are no equalities nor inclusion implications arising directly from this report 

Comments checked by: 

Shona Ware, Assistant Director – Customer Focus, 01295 221652  

shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

Sustainability Implications 

There are no sustainability implications arising directly from this report Comments 

checked by: 

Jo Miskin, Climate Action Manager, 01295 221748, jo.miskin@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

8.0 Decision Information 

Key Decision  

Financial Threshold Met:   N/A 

Community Impact Threshold Met: N/A  

Wards Affected 

N/A 

Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 

N/A 

Lead Councillor 

N/A 

Document Information 

 Appendix number and title 

 Appendix 1 – Workforce Profile Data – Quarter 4 2022/23 

Background papers 

None 

Report Author and contact details 

Claire Cox, Assistant Director of HR 

 Claire.cox@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 01295 221549 

 

Page 136

mailto:shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:shona.ware@cherwell-dc.gov.uk


Cherwell District Council  Workforce Profile Quarter 4 2022-23 

1

11

50 43

14 16 12

92

157

4

58

27

54

19 11 11

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

C
h

ie
f 

Ex
ec

u
ti

ve
's

 O
ff

ic
e

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
Fo

cu
s

H
o

u
si

n
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

H
R

 O
D

 a
n

d
 P

ay
ro

ll

St
af

f 
B

an
k

Se
n

io
r 

Le
ad

e
rs

h
ip

 T
ea

m

W
el

lb
ei

n
g

En
vi

ro
n

m
e

n
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s

G
ro

w
th

 a
n

d
 E

co
n

o
m

y

P
la

n
n

in
g 

an
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

en
t

R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Fi
n

an
ce

IC
T 

an
d

 D
ig

it
al

La
w

 a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

P
ro

p
er

ty

Chief Executive Communities Resources

H
e

ad
co

u
n

t

Department and Directorate

Headcount by Department as at 
31 March 2023

      

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Headcount and Full Time Equivalent (FTE) comparison and Agency usage 

Chart 1 shows that the headcount (based at the end of each quarter) at 
Cherwell District Council (CDC) has seen minimal change between quarter 3 
and quarter 4.   

Quarter 4 has seen adjustments of 11 leavers and 11 new starters across the 
organisation. 

Headcount has increased by 1 between the last 2 quarters of 2022/23. 

Chart 1 

Chart 2 details the distribution of headcount across our departments and 

directorates as at the end of quarter 4 in 2022/23. With Wellbeing and 

Environmental Services continuing to show the highest headcount.  The 

department of Chief Executive’s Office incorporates executive support and 

employees attributed to the Pan Regional Partnership, for which CDC is the 

host employer.  CDC are also host employer to the District Councils Network 

(DCN) and these employees are included in the HR, OD and Payroll 

directorate. 

Customer Focus has had the most fluctuation in quarter 4, with 4 new starters 

and 4 leavers. 

Chart 2 

571 571 571 569

553

600 598

613

584

550

580 579

510

520

530

540

550

560

570

580

590

600

610

620

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

H
ea

d
co

u
n

t

Quarters

Headcount by Quarter
1 January to 31 March 2023

Appendix 1

P
age 137



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

2 

455.83
462.57 462.27 460.82

447.85

464.54 464.34

477.64

447.99
443.05

469.87 470.74

420
430
440
450
460
470
480
490

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

FT
E

Quarters

FTE by Quarter
1 January to 31 March 2023

9.73

42.35 40.17
13.29

0
12

29.23

154.4

4

53.61
26.6

48.8

18.61 10.12 7.83

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

C
h

ie
f 

Ex
ec

u
ti

ve
's

 O
ff

ic
e

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
Fo

cu
s

H
o

u
si

n
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

H
R

 O
D

 a
n

d
 P

ay
ro

ll

St
af

f 
B

an
k

Se
n

io
r 

Le
ad

e
rs

h
ip

 T
ea

m

W
el

lb
ei

n
g

En
vi

ro
n

m
e

n
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s

G
ro

w
th

 a
n

d
 E

co
n

o
m

y

P
la

n
n

in
g 

an
d

D
ev

e
lo

p
m

en
t

R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Fi
n

an
ce

IC
T 

an
d

 D
ig

it
al

La
w

 a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

P
ro

p
er

ty

Chief Executive Communities Resources

FT
E

Department and Directorate

FTE by Department as at 
31 March 2023

71.16

16.06

12.78

% Breakdown of Role Basis 
as at 31 March 2023

% Full-time % Part-time % Casual

                                                                                                                        
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 4  

Chart 4 

outlines 

the 

distribu

tion of 

FTEs 

across 

the 

depart

ments 

and 

director

ates as 

at 30 

June 

2022.   

 

Chart 5 

Chart 4 outlines the distribution of FTE across the departments and directorates 

as at the end of quarter 4 of 2022/23. FTE has increased 0.87 between quarter 3 

and 4 of 2022/23 but in comparison to quarter 4 of 2021/22 has reduced by 6.9 

FTE.  

Since quarter 3; HR, OD and Payroll have reduced by 2.11 FTE and 

Environmental Services has reduced by 1 FTE.  Planning and Development has 

increased by 2 FTE and Housing Services has increased by 1.8 FTE. 

Charts 5 shows the breakdown of basis of hours across our workforce as at 31 

March 2023. Since quarter 3 there has been minimal change to the make-up of 

role-basis with our full-time workforce increasing by 2.4% and part-time 

reducing by 0.45%.  Our casual workforce has reduced by 0.15%. 

 

Chart 3 

Chart 3 outlines the fluctuation of FTE which mirrors headcount for this 
quarter due to there being minimal disruption with the business and equal 
starters and leavers. 
 
 

P
age 138



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

3 

The highest agency usage continues to be within Environmental Services, 
within refuse collection and this is due to having 3-person crews on refuse 
collection, often utilising agency staff to cover for employee sickness and 
holidays. 
 
Planning and Development have utilised 11 agency staff in quarter 4, an 
increase of 1 since quarter 3.  Law and Governance have reduced their agency 
usage from 9 to 4 in the last quarter due to successful recruitment. Property 
has reduced agency usage by 2 since quarter 3. 
 
 
Chart 7 

82.21

4.49

13.30

% Breakdown of Employment Basis 
as at 31 March 2023

% Permanent % Fixed Term % Temporary
0

2
1

0 0

3

0

17

6
5

2

10

3

5 5

0
1

0 0 0

3

1

23

7

9

2

8

3

9

3

0
1

6

0 0
1

0

13

4

10

1

8

4

9

7

1 1

6

1
0 0 0

19

4

11

1

7

3
4

5

0

5

10

15

20

25

C
h

ie
f 

Ex
ec

u
ti

ve
's

 O
ff

ic
e

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
Fo

cu
s

H
o

u
si

n
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

H
R

 O
D

 a
n

d
 P

ay
ro

ll

St
af

f 
B

an
k

Se
n

io
r 

Le
ad

e
rs

h
ip

 T
ea

m

W
el

lb
ei

n
g

En
vi

ro
n

m
e

n
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s

G
ro

w
th

 a
n

d
 E

co
n

o
m

y

P
la

n
n

in
g 

an
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

en
t

R
eg

u
la

to
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Fi
n

an
ce

IC
T 

an
d

 D
ig

it
al

La
w

 a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

P
ro

p
er

ty

Chief Executive Communities Resources

N
o

. o
f 

A
ge

n
cy

 S
ta

ff

Department and Directorate

Agency Usage by Quarter
for 2022-23

Qtr 1 2022-23 Qtr 2 - 2022-23 Qtr 3 - 2022-23 Qtr 4 - 2022-23

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
In addition to employing staff directly, CDC also utilise Agency Workers, either 
for interim or short-term usage for specific posts and projects. 
 
Chart 7 outlines agency usage as at the end of each quarter in 2022/23 by 
directorate and department. 
 
A total of 63 Agency workers were engaged with CDC at the end of quarter 3 
of 2022/23.  This is a reduction of 1 in the last quarter. 

Chart 7 

Chart 6 outlines the employment basis of those directly employed by CDC 
shows that 82.21% of our workforce are in permanent roles. There has been 
minimal fluctuation of employment basis since quarter 3. 
 
Chart 6 Chart 6 

P
age 139



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

4 

Turnover rates and Leaver information 

Chart 8 tracks the turnover rate per quarter from April 2020 to 

March 2023.  The turnover rate is defined by firstly calculating the 

average number of employees for the quarter period and dividing 

the number of leavers by the average number of employees. 

Chart 8 

0.70

2.10
1.39

2.11

3.57
4.09

5.41

3.81

6.06

4.05

2.66
1.90

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

0
-2

1

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

1
-2

2

Q
tr

 1
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 2
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 3
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Q
tr

 4
 2

0
2

2
-2

3

Tu
rn

o
ve

r 
R

at
e

Quarters

Quarterly Turnover Rate
1 January to 31 March 2023

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 8 

The turnover for quarter 4 shows a reduction of 0.76% since quarter 

3 and 4.16% since quarter 1.   

CDC participate in a workforce metric benchmark exercise that is co-

ordinated by the Local Government Association.  Data around 

employee turnover is submitted on a quarterly basis by CDC and 

other local authorities across the country and this has been 

translated into a mean average across the local authorities sector. 

Table 1 provides comparison of the turnover rate for all local 

authorities across the UK and CDC.  For quarter 1 the mean turnover 

rate for English authorities was 4.1%.  CDC had a turnover rate of 

6.06%, 2,5% higher than the mean average but this was attributed to 

the decoupling from OCC. In quarter 2, CDC’s turnover rate was 

0.25% lower than the national average for local government 

authorities. In quarter 3, CDC records a turnover rate 0.64% lower 

LGA statistics for quarter 4 are not yet available but will be tracked and added in the next 

round of statistics. LGA statistics for quarter 2 have been published and Labour turnover 

comparative data is as follows: 

Table 1 

Quarter Mean for All English authorities CDC 

Qtr 1 2022-23 4.1% 6.06% 

Qtr 2 2022-23 4.3% 4.05% 

Qtr 3 2022-23 3.3% 2.66% 

Qtr 4 2022-23 Not yet known 1.90% 

 
 

Whilst its useful to review labour turnover on a quarterly basis throughout the year; turnover 

can also be measured at an annual rate.  Table 2 outlines the labour turnover rate at CDC an 

annual basis comparatively for the last 3 years. In 2022/23, CDC had 85 leavers in total, 

which is 10 less than the previous year.  The turnover rate, whilst significantly higher in 

2021/22, in comparison to 2020/21, saw a reduction of 1.76% in the last year. 

Table 2 

  2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Headcount at 01/04 568 566 605 

Headcount at 31/03 569 613 579 

Average no. of employees 568.5 589.5 592 

No. of leavers 39 95 85 

Turnover rate (%) 6.86 16.12 14.36 

 

P
age 140



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

5 

Chart 9 outlines leavers by reason for quarter 4 of 2022/23. Of the 11 leavers 

recorded in quarter 4, resignation is the highest reason for leaving; accounting for 

72.73% of all leavers. 9.09% of leavers are due to retirement and 6.67% due to end 

of fixed term contract.  

Chart 10 outlines leavers by length of service across the last 12 quarters.  In 2022/23, 

24.7% of leavers have had less than a years’ service.   

During quarter 2 the process for exit interviews was updated to ensure we gather 

vital data as to why employees are leaving.  This data will be used towards informing 

how to improve retention. 

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Qtr 1 2020-21

Qtr 2 2020-21

Qtr 3 2020-21

Qtr 4 2020-21

Qtr 1 2021-22

Qtr 2 2021-22

Qtr 3 2021-22

Qtr 4 2021-22

Qtr 1 2022-23

Qtr 2 2022-23

Qtr 3 2022-23

Qtr 4 -2022-23

2

4

4

3

2

5

7

4

5

10

3

3

0

8

4

4

11

10

13

9

12

6

7

5

2

1

0

3

4

4

5

5

11

0

4

2

0

2

0

2

2

6

5

3

8

7

1

1

No. of Leavers

Q
u

ar
te

rs

Leavers by Length of Service
1 April 2020 - 31 March 2023

1 year and under Under 5 years Under 10 years 10 years +

9.09

72.73

9.09

9.09

% of Leavers by reason
1 January to 31 March 2023

Redundancy Resignation Resignation - Job dissatisfaction Retirement - Ill Health

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 9 

 

Chart 10 

When a resignation is received within HR, employees are now provided with an 

electronic exit questionnaire to complete via our HR/Payroll system and invited 

to attend a meeting with a member of the HR team to ascertain why they are 

leaving and whether they have any advice or comments on lessons learned or 

improvements that could be made. 

Of the 11 leavers in quarter 4, all were offered the opportunity to partake in an 

exit interview.  8 completed the exit interview questionnaire and attended 

meetings with a member of the HR Team.  This is a 72.72% completion rate, up 

from 45% in quarter 3. 

Data will continue to be gathered and shared with the relevant managers in a 

bid to work on any advice received in order to make improvements, where 

possible, for existing employees, thus aiding retention. 

Chart 9 outlines leavers by reason for quarter 4 of 2022/23.  Of the 11 

leavers recorded in quarter 4, resignation was the main reason for leaving, 

accounting for 72.73% of all leavers. With all other reasons accounting for 

9.09% each. 

 

P
age 141



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

6 

0

50

100

150

200

250

14
1 6 4 3 4 10

35

13 21
6 0

20 18
3

18

3
10 14

1 3
8

29

19
17

5
0

17 16

9

37

2

32
13

0 1

19

21

10

22

7

3

17
12

3

57

3

15

10

4 1

17

12

11

9

6

0

24

10

5

22

4

15

8

1 2

16

12

7

8

6

4

15

9

4

32

7

5

6

2 4

18

19

6

12

6

0

20

9

7

31

6

31

17

2
3

21

16

12

15

9

1

19

8

7

13

6

24

8

1
1

14

29

13

15

8

0

28

11

3

N
o

. o
f 

In
ci

d
en

ts

Sickness Absence Reasons

Sickness Absence Incidents by Reason
April 2021 to March 2023

Qtr 1 2021 Qtr 2 2021 Qtr 3 2021 Qtr 4 2021

Qtr 1 2022 Qtr 2 2022 Qtr 3 2022 Qtr 4 2022

 

Sickness Absence reasons and rates 

Chart 11 shows the number of sickness absence incidents by 

reason over the last 8 quarters, back to April 2021.  COVID-19 

remains the most common absence reason overall for this time 

period although have reduced by almost a third since quarter 3.   

Musculo-skeletal has been the highest reason for sickness 

absence in the last quarter, closely followed by 

Stomach/Liver/Kidney and Digestion. Each of these reasons 

accounts for 18% of all incidents in quarter 4 of 2022/23. 

Over the last 12 months, 645 incidents of sickness absence have 

been recorded.  The highest reason for sickness absence in the 

last 12 months remained as COVID-19, with 98 incidents 

recording and accounting for 15.19% of all incidents.  This has 

reduced by 2.55% since 2021/22. 

The second highest reason for sickness absence in 2022/23 is 

Stomach/Liver/Kidney and Digestion, with 82 incidents reported 

which equates to 12.71% of all incidents.  The third most 

common sickness reason was Musculo-skeletal, accounting for 

11.78% of all incidents, with 76 incidents recorded across the last 

year. 

Chest and Respiratory was recorded as the fourth highest reason 

with 75 incidents reports and accounting for 11.63% of all 

incidents.  

The fifth main reason for sickness absence was infection with 

10.70% of all sickness absence and 69 incidents reported.  

 

 

 

Chart 11 

P
age 142



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

7 

Chart 13 

0.48
0.46

0.39

0.55
0.59

0.79

0.55

0.46
0.42

0.53
0.49

0.60
0.55

0.63

0.78
0.72

0.79
0.75

0.90

1.00

0.89
0.86

0.81
0.87

0.59
0.56

0.59
0.64

0.79

0.65

0.77
0.72

0.78
0.83

0.74

0.83

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

A
p

r-
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
e

c-
2

0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

M
ar

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Se
p

-2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
o

v-
2

1

D
e

c-
2

1

Ja
n

-2
2

Fe
b

-2
2

M
ar

-2
2

A
p

r-
2

2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
n

-2
2

Ju
l-

2
2

A
u

g-
2

2

Se
p

-2
2

O
ct

-2
2

N
o

v-
2

2

D
e

c-
2

2

Ja
n

-2
3

Fe
b

-2
3

M
ar

-2
3

O
ve

ra
ll,

 s
h

o
rt

 a
n

d
 lo

n
g-

te
rm

 a
b

se
n

ce
 r

at
e

Council Absence Rates by Month
Overall and broken down into short-term, long-term and stress

April 2020 to March 2023

Short-term absence rate Long-term absence rate Whole Council Absence Rate Work-related stress absence rate Non-work related stress absence rate

 

For the purposes of sickness absence reporting, short term absence is recorded as any incident that is less than 28 days, and a GP fit note is required after an 

employee has been absent for 7 calendar days.  Long-term sickness is recorded as any absence spanning 28 days or more.  HR work with managers and employees, 

where employees are off on long-term sick to engage with Cordell Health, CDC’s Occupational Health Provider and ensure effective absence management.   

Chart 12 tracks the absence rate per month, which is effectively the percentage of working time lost, back from April 2020 to March 2023 and shows that CDC are 

consistently below 1% of working time lost due to sickness absence.  The absence rate is calculated by dividing the hours lost due to sickness absence by the available 

working hours for the period.  The highest rate of absence, recording 1% of working time lost; is in November 2021.  Quarter 4 records a slightly higher absence rate 

than quarter 3 of 2022/23 despite the fact that there were 24 less incidents in the current quarter. 

Chart 12 also captures the absence rate of short and long-term instances, In the last 12 months, March 2023 has the highest rate of short-term absence, recording a 

rate of 0.54 days per FTE. November 2022 had the highest rate of long-term absence with 0.40 days lost per FTE. 

 

 

Chart 12 

P
age 143



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

8 

1.84
0.380.31

4.60

0.57
1.162.17

0.17

6.00

0.64

% Working Time Lost due to 
Short Term Absence

1 January to 31 March 2023

Customer Focus Housing Services

HR OD and Payroll Environmental Services

Planning and Development Regulatory Services

Finance ICT and Digital

Law and Governance Property

0.59 2.72
1.20

1.74

8.55

3.76

2.31
1.37

% Working Time Lost due to Long 
Term Absence

1 January to 31 March 2023

Customer Focus Housing Services

Wellbeing Environmental Services

Growth and Economy Regulatory Services

Finance Property

 

The absence rate attributed to stress is also displayed in Chart 12 and whilst a slight increase in work-

related stress was recorded through November 2022, with a rate of 0.10, this has since declined, ending 

2023/24 on a rate of 0.05. Work-related stress accounted for 1.72% of incidents in quarter 4 of 2022/23 

and 3.19% of all incidents occurring in 2023/24. Work-related stress has seen a slight increase of 0.37% 

between 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

The non-work related stress absence rate has had an increase over the last quarter, from 0.02 in 

December ending 2022/23on a rate of 0.17. Non-work related stress incidents accounted for 6.32%% of 

all incidents in quarter 4 of 2022/23 and 5.62% of all incidents across the year.  This is a reduction of 

2.27% compared to 2021/22 and 11.99% compared to 2020/21.  

HR continue to ensure that Occupational Health support is accessed at the point that employee sickness 

is classified as long-term unless there are benefits to instigate this sooner.  If an employee reports that 

they are absent due to stress, then an immediate referral to Occupational Health is made to ensure that 

support mechanisms can be put in place as soon as possible. Employees are also asked to complete a 

Health and Safety Executive (HSE) Stress Questionnaire as this provides information on the causes of 

stress which aids the organisation in supporting employees to deal with these issues where possible.    

Employees also continue to have access to the Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) which is provided 

by Health Assured and offers access to counselling, legal and financial advice, and wellbeing resources.  

The service is confidential and whilst statistics on usage are reported through to CDC; details of which 

employees have made contact is withheld.  

Charts 13 and 14 provide a breakdown of the percentage of working time lost by department for both 

short term and long-term sickness absence. 

Chart 14 

Chart 13 

P
age 144



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Whilst data for sickness absence is analysed on a quarterly basis for the purpose of these statistics, it is helpful to reflect on this data on an annual basis and Table 3 

provides details of CDC’s annual absence rate, which is the percentage of working time lost due to sickness absence per year, for the past 3 years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 3 

  2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

 Average FTE 461.33 464.54 460.72 

Available Working Hours 890033.39 896224.80 888864.56 

Hours Lost 22514.11 29309.83 28773.3 

Absence Rate (%) 2.53 3.27 3.24 

Hours lost due to short term absence 6829.27 13883.98 16007.05 

Short term absence rate (%) 0.77 1.55 1.80 

Hours lost due to long term absence 15684.84 15425.85 12766.25 

Long term absence rate (%) 1.76 1.72 1.44 

Hours lost due to work-related stress 1724.2 2604.80 2064.6 

Work-related stress absence rate (%) 0.19 0.29 0.23 

Hours lost due to non-work-related stress 6243.15 5155.53 3005.95 

Non-work-related stress absence rate (%) 0.70 0.58 0.34 

 

In 2022/23, 3.24% of working time was lost 

due to sickness, this is 0.3% less than the 

previous year.  

The short-term absence rate increased by 

0.25% but the long term absence rate 

reduced by 0.28% in 2022/23. 

It is positive to note a reduction in both 

work-related and non-work-related stress 

in the last 12 months with the overall stress 

absence rate reducing by 0.3%. 

 

 

 

P
age 145



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Comparative sector data for sickness absence rates has been sought from the Local Government Association (LGA) and is displayed alongside data for CDC in Table 4. 

LGA Sickness data for quarter 4 is not yet available but will be added into a later edition of these statistics.  The LGA calculate the mean sickness absence rate across all 

English authorities as 2.6 days per person in quarter 3 of 2022/23.  CDC records a rate of 1.65 days in quarter 1, 2.11 days in quarter 2, 2.27 days in quarter 3 and 2.4 

days in quarter 4.   

CDC is consistently lower than the mean average for the sickness absence rate in comparison to all local authorities. CDC remains lower on the percentage of working 

time lost due to sickness absence.  CDC is lower than average for both the percentage lost due to long term sickness absence and the number of days lost per FTE for 

long term absence. The national data for quarter 4 will be compared to CDC once available. 

Table 4 

Metric Type Value 
Type 

QUARTER 1 
Mean for All 

English 
authorities 

CDC 
Qtr 1 

QUARTER 2 
Mean for All 

English 
authorities 

CDC 
Qtr 2 

QUARTER 3 
Mean for All 

English 
authorities 

CDC 
Qtr 3 

CDC 
Qtr 4 

Sickness 
absence rate 

Days 
per 

person 

2.8 1.65 2.3 2.11 2.6 2.27 2.4 

         

Days lost 
through 

sickness, short 
term 

% 11.6 1.37 5.5 1.79 1.9 1.19 2.22 

Sickness 
absence, short 

term (FTE) 

Days 
per FTE 

1.2 0.89 0.9 1.17 1.1 1.24 1.44 

         

Days lost 
through 

sickness, long 
term 

% 11.1 1.16 4.2 1.46 2.3 1.08 1.48 

Sickness 
absence, long 

term (FTE) 

Days 
per FTE 

1.5 0.76 1.3 0.94 1.4 1.13 0.96 

 

 

 

P
age 146



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

11 

50.43

49.57

Gender Profile Percentage as at 
31 March 2023

Male Female

6

14

19

22

28

11

Age Profile Percentage as at
31 March 2023

< 21 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 > 60

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Age, Gender and Ethnicity Workforce Profile as at 31 March 2023 

Chart 15 shows a breakdown by age of the CDC workforce, expressed in 

percentage. 11% of CDC employees are over 60.  50% of CDC employees are 

aged between 41 and 60. 19% of the workforce are aged between 31 and 40 

and 14% aged under 21 to 30. There has not been more than a 1% increase or 

reduction in any of these categories in the last quarter. 

Chart 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 16 

Out of a population of 161,837 within the Cherwell District, 49.6% are male and 

50.4% are female.  At CDC, 50.43% of our workforce are male and 49.57% are 

female meaning it is quite representative of the district. 

At the end of quarter 1 for 2022/23, it was reported that 51.25% of the workforce 

had not recorded their ethnic background.  By quarter 3, this has reduced to 

24.14% and by quarter 4 this has reduced further to 18.83%.  Requests continue 

to be made to the workforce to ensure this data is completed in the HR/Payroll 

system. 80.17% of the workforce have provided this data, with 5.53% preferring 

not to specify. 

 

Chart 16 breaks down the gender of the CDC workforce and shows that CDC is 

almost a 50% split.  

CDC record statistics on employees sensitive data in order to ensure that our 

workforce is representative of the district we support and serve.  Where we are 

under-represented, we need to review what we can do to ensure these groups 

are aware of the employment opportunities we have available.  Local Insight 

data in relation to gender and ethnicity within the Cherwell District has been 

used to compare against the make-up of our workforce. 

 

P
age 147



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

12 

CDC’s workforce is predominantly white British with 65.80% of the workforce that has recorded their ethnicity in this category. This category has increased by 4.3% in 

the last quarter. 

Table 5 compares the make-up of ethnic groups across the UK and the Cherwell District and then compares this with the make-up of our workforce.  The Cherwell 

District has a higher percentage of residents in the White ethnic group than the average across the UK. Of the workforce data recorded, the White category for the 

workforce is 18.5% less than the Cherwell District. 

The CDC workforce is slightly under-represented in all the ethnic groups in comparison to the district, with the biggest gaps in the Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh 

group, which has 2.55% difference, and in the Black, Black British, Black Welsh, Caribbean or African group which records a 1.28% difference. 

As part of the Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity strategy that was published this year, we have a workforce plan with actions to work through.  This data will continue 

to be tracked whilst the actions are undertaken and variations will be provided in future iterations of these statistics. 

The HR Team will continue to work with the organisation to gather outstanding data and will continue to update on a quarterly basis. 

65.80

3.80

1.38

3.45

0.52
0.00

0.69

5.53

18.83

Ethnicity Profile Percentage as at
31 March 2023

White British White-non British Mixed

Asian Black Non-white

Other ethnic group Not specified Unknown

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ethnic Group 
England average 

(%) 
Cherwell District 

(%) 
CDC (%) 

Asian, Asian British or Asian 
Welsh  

9.3 6.0 3.45 

Black, Black British, Black Welsh, 
Caribbean or African 

4.0 1.8 0.52 

Mixed or multiple ethnic groups 2.9 2.9 1.38 

White 81.7 88.1 69.60 

Other ethnic group 2.1 1.3 0.69 

Not specified  N/A N/A 5.53 

Unknown  N/A N/A 18.83 

Chart 17 

Graph 17 shows a breakdown of ethnicity within CDC.  Comparative data has been sought both nationally and from the district and is presented in Table 5. 

 Table 5 

P
age 148



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

13 

Apprenticeships within Cherwell District Council as at Quarter 4 – 2022/23 

Information 

There are 18 apprenticeships currently running within the Council, of which 4 are apprentices on 

programme, employed specifically as apprentices; and the remaining 14 are employees undertaking 

an apprenticeship as CPD or career progression. 

Chart 18 outlines the breakdown of apprenticeships by Directorate.  There are currently 8 

apprenticeships within the Communities Directorate, 8 within the Chief Executive Directorate and 2 

within the Resources Directorate – please see graph. 

Details of the apprenticeships at the organisation are detailed in the table below.   The organisation is 

using its apprenticeship levy predominantly for upskilling existing staff.   

Apprenticeships details below: 

Apprenticeship 
Standard 

Level of 
Apprenticeship 

Duration of 
Apprenticeship 

Number of 
employees on 
apprenticeship 

Apprentice 
or Employee 
CPD 

Team Directorate Cost of 
Apprenticeships 
(£) 

Accounts or Finance 
Assistant 

Level 2 1 ½ Years 1 CPD Finance Resources 5,400 

Autocare 
Technician 

Level 2 2 ½ Years 1 Apprentice Fleet Management Communities 12,000 

Business 
Administration 

Level 3 1 ½ Years 2 Apprentice Depot Communities 10,000 

Team 
Leader/Supervisor 

Level 3 1 ½ Years 3 CPD Sport and Physical 
Activities (2) 
Housing Options and 
Homelessness (1) 

Chief Executive 
 
 

13,500 

Improvement 
Practitioner 

Level 4 1 ½ Years 3 CPD ICT 
Customer Services 

Resources (1) 
Chief Executive (2) 

12,000 

Communities
45%

Chief 
Executive

44%

Resources
11%

Percentage of Apprenticeships within 
Directorates as at Quarter 4, 2022/23

Communities Chief Executive Resources

Chart 18 

P
age 149



Cherwell District Council                                                                          Workforce Profile     Quarter 4 2022-23 
 

14 

Apprenticeship 
Standard 

Level of 
Apprenticeship 

Duration of 
Apprenticeship 

Number of 
employees on 
apprenticeship 

Apprentice 
or Employee 
CPD 

Team Directorate Cost of 
Apprenticeships 
(£) 

Operations / 
Departmental 
Manager 

Level 5 1 ½ Years 1 CPD Health Place Shaping Chief Executive 7,000 

Building Control 
Surveyor 

Level 6 4 Years 3 CPD Building Control Communities 72,000 

Chartered Surveyor Level 6 5 ½ Years 1 Apprentice Access and Grants Communities 27,000 

Chartered Town 
Planner 

Level 7  2 ½ years 1 CPD  Planning  Communities 19,400 

Senior Leader Level 7 2 Years 1 CPD HR Chief Executive 14,000 

Senior People 
Professional 

Level 7 3 ½ Years 1 CPD HR Chief Executive 19,000 

     Total apprenticeship levy committed 211,300 

Future Apprenticeships 

The Learning and Development Manager has been attending Directorate Managers meeting to talk about apprenticeships and managers are actively talking with their staff 

regarding qualifications and apprenticeships. 

Current amount in the Levy Account 

The Council currently has £137,113 in their levy account.  It is estimated that a further £81,293 will be received over the next 12 months, based on funds entering the 

Council’s Apprenticeship service account, including the 10% top up from the government.  It is estimated that the Council will spend £50,979 in the next 12 months based 

on the current apprenticeships within the table above.   

Expired Funds 

To date the Council have not had any expired funds retracted from the levy account. 

P
age 150



 
 

Personnel Committee Work Programme 2023-24 
(Updated: 5 June 2023) 
 

Item Description Contact Officer 
 

Tuesday 13 June 2023 (NB. Meeting at 7.30pm. Personnel Committee training, 6.30pm – 7.30pm)  

Workforce Profile Statistics – Q4 
22/23 

To provide an update on Cherwell District Council’s workforce 
including KPIs for measuring staff well-being and to highlight 
the actions officers are taking to address any issues 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Policy Updates  To seek approval from the Personnel Committee on proposed 
changes to existing HR policies. 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD  

Equalities, Diversity and 
Inclusion (EDI) Working Group  

To appoint three Personnel Committee members to the 
informal EDI working group, a joint working group with 
representatives from the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Shone Ware, AD Customer 
Focus  

Work Programme Review  To review the Committee work programme Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Wednesday 2 August 2023 

Workforce Profile Statistics – Q1 
23/24 

To provide an update on Cherwell District Council’s workforce 
including KPIs for measuring staff well-being and to highlight 
the actions officers are taking to address any issues 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Policy Updates  To seek approval from the Personnel Committee on proposed 
changes to existing HR policies. 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD  

Work Programme Review  To review the Committee work programme Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Wednesday 1 November 2023  

Workforce Profile Statistics – Q2 
23/24 

To provide an update on Cherwell District Council’s workforce 
including KPIs for measuring staff well-being and to highlight 
the actions officers are taking to address any issues 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Policy Updates  To seek approval from the Personnel Committee on proposed 
changes to existing HR policies. 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD  

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 10



 
 

Item Description Contact Officer 
 

Work Programme Review  To review the Committee work programme Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Wednesday 7 February 2024  

Gender Pay Gap  To provide the latest Gender Pay Gap report for information. Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Workforce Profile Statistics – Q3 
23/24 

To provide an update on Cherwell District Council’s workforce 
including KPIs for measuring staff well-being and to highlight 
the actions officers are taking to address any issues 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

Policy Updates  To seek approval from the Personnel Committee on proposed 
changes to existing HR policies. 

Claire Cox, AD HR & OD  

Work Programme Review  To review the Committee work programme Claire Cox, AD HR & OD 

 
 
Meeting Dates 2023/24 (All Wednesday, 6.30pm unless indicated) 
Tuesday 13 June 2023 (7.30pm), 2 August 2023. 1 November 2023, 7 February 2024  
Training for Personnel Committee members will be held at 6.30pm on Tuesday 13 June, immediately prior to the first meeting of the 
Committee in the 2023/24 municipal year   
 

P
age 152


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	Minutes, 23/05/2023 Personnel Committee

	7 Policy Review
	Appendix 1 - Changes to policy table June 2023
	Appendix 2 - Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure
	Appendix 3 - Organisation Change Policy
	Appendix 4 - Disciplinary Policy and Procedure
	Appendix 5 - Capability Policy
	Appendix 6 - Standby and On Call Policy
	Appendix 7 - Market Supplement Policy
	Appendix 8 - Car User Policy

	8 Workforce Profile Statistics
	- Appendix 1 - Workforce Profile Statistics - Quarter 4 - 2022-23

	10 Work Programme 2023/2024

